


The Competition Commission of Singapore (“CCS”) is a statutory body that was 
established under the Competition Act (Chapter 50B) on 1 January 2005. Its core 
function is to administer and enforce the Competition Act, and it comes under the 
purview of the Ministry of Trade and Industry.

Today’s competition landscape is getting tougher. As businesses develop and grow, 
they search for new methods to give themselves the competitive edge. As they do 
so, CCS’s role is to ensure businesses compete on a level playing field. In this regard, 
CCS has two areas of focus – enforcement and advocacy. 

CCS enforces the Competition Act by:

“Helping Markets SOAR” is a theme which encapsulates the roles and underlying 
functions of CCS – to help markets that are made up of businesses and consumers 
succeed, and to create a vibrant economy together with its partners and 
stakeholders. By showcasing different kinds of flying devices, we have attempted 
to symbolically capture the essence of the markets in their diversity.

Making markets 
work well to create 
opportunities and 
choices for businesses 
and consumers in 
Singapore.

A vibrant economy 
with well-functioning 
markets and innovative 
businesses.
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Over the past year, CCS has remained 
steadfast in fulfilling our mission to 
make markets work well for businesses 
and consumers in Singapore.
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CHAIRMAN’S 
MESSAGE

KEY ACHIEVEMENTS

We were delighted to be able to host over 500 delegates 
from 83 countries for the International Competition 
Network (“ICN”) Annual Conference. This was the first 
time the ICN Annual Conference was hosted in Southeast 
Asia. It is our hope that together with our partners in 
ASEAN and the Trans-Pacific Partnership, we will be 
able to further strengthen the competition policy and 
law developments in this region. 

In support of this goal, the Minister for Trade and 
Industry (Trade) Mr Lim Hng Kiang launched the ASEAN 
Competition Policy and Law (“CPL”) Programme. CCS 
will take the lead to develop this programme, which 
will contribute to aligning the competition policy and 
law of ASEAN member states. The CPL Programme 
will promote closer collaboration and relationships 
amongst businesses, competition authorities as well 
as relevant government agencies in ASEAN, to help 
foster a competitive, innovative and dynamic ASEAN 
unified market.

As CCS tackles more complex and cross-border cases, 
we strive to deliver effective and efficient investigation 
and enforcement, despite limited resources. In this 
regard, we have embarked on a comprehensive 
review of the CCS Guidelines. Proposed amendments 
to the Guidelines took into account feedback from 
stakeholders, best practices in other jurisdictions, 
as well as CCS’s experience over the past decade in 
administering and enforcing the various provisions of 
the Competition Act.

I am confident that the proposed changes will make it 
easier for businesses, consumers and stakeholders 
to understand the application of competition law. At 
the same time, the streamlining and simplification of 
various notification forms and procedures will save 
businesses time. 

One example is the push towards even more self-
reporting by businesses through our leniency 
programme. This will be refined so that businesses 
know upfront what to expect and what will be required 
by CCS during the process. More incentives such as 
a penalty discount of up to 50% will be provided for 
coercers and initiators of a cartel activity.

Another example is a new Fast Track procedure for 
cases. This will enable businesses under investigation 
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to admit liability early and, in return, receive a reduced 
financial penalty, resulting in a shorter and faster 
investigation process. 

Our voluntary merger regime strikes a balance between 
compliance costs and self-reporting, so that only potentially 
problematic mergers are notified to the CCS. We are 
encouraged to see that mergers which have been notified 
and cleared have had the desired pro-competition effect. 
A post-merger study of the kidney dialysis market was 
completed in April 2016. The empirical evidence showed 
that CCS’s decision to clear the merger of two dialysis 
service providers with a high combined market share 
in December 2012 was sound, as it did not lead to any 
adverse effect on competition in the kidney dialysis market.

CCS will continue to focus on markets which have significant 
impact on our economy. To this end, it recognises that 
digitisation of the global economy has led to rapid growth 
of e-commerce activities which have changed the nature 
of competition and created new market opportunities. 
The size of Singapore’s online retail market was expected 
to reach S$4.4 billion in 2015, four times the size of the 
market in 2010. Regionally, digital markets are taking on 
a new significance as online retail spending in ASEAN 
is expected to grow by 25% annually between 2013 and 
2017 due to increasing purchasing power, growing internet 
penetration and improved online offerings. 

In December 2015, CCS, supported by IE Singapore and 
SPRING Singapore, organised a seminar to share the 
findings of a CCS-commissioned report on e-commerce 
with more than 150 participants from different business 
sectors. The report concluded that Singapore’s competition 
law is generally well equipped to deal with the issues that 
may arise in the context of digital markets, in particular in 
relation to the network effects and multi-sided platforms 
that are characteristic of e-commerce platforms. Network 

?
TOTAL 
NO. OF 
COMPLETED 
CASES

54
Anti-Competitive 
Agreements10

Competition 
Advisories 28

Merger 
Applications4

Abuse of 
Dominance Cases8

 FY2015 IN SUMMARY

effects can easily lead to dominance and if the dominant 
entity adopts measures to exclude rivals, this can lead to 
an undesirable monopoly. It is therefore important for CCS 
to maintain a competitive ecosystem that allows digital 
markets to be vibrant and innovative with entry and exit 
of market players. 

I would like to take this opportunity to thank my fellow 
Commission members for their time and commitment. 
CCS’s achievements over the year would not have been 
possible without their guidance, which has ensured 
CCS’s decisions have been carefully thought through 
and reasoned. I also applaud the efforts of our committed 
CCS management team and staff for their teamwork and 
passion in advancing CCS’s mission. 

Last but not the least, I would like to thank our partners 
and stakeholders for their strong support of CCS’s mission.

As CCS tackles more complex and 
cross-border cases, we strive 
to deliver effective and efficient 
investigation and enforcement, 
despite limited resources. 

ICN ANNUAL CONFERENCE

>500
Delegates

83
Countries
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ENFORCING THE COMPETITION ACT AND 
STRENGTHENING OUR CAPABILITIES

During the year in review, CCS pursued cases spanning a 
wide range of industries including the food and beverage, 
financial services, aviation and healthcare sectors. 

In June 2015, Cordlife Group Limited removed various 
exclusive agreements it had with baby fair organisers and 
hospitals after CCS’s intervention. The removal of these 
restrictions would allow competing cord blood banks to 
access baby fairs and hospitals as marketing channels in 
a growing private cord blood bank market. In October 2015, 
Singapore’s largest beer supplier, Asia Pacific Breweries 
(Singapore) Pte Ltd, ended its outlet exclusivity practice 
after CCS’s intervention. Many industry players welcomed 
this as the ending of outlet exclusivity would open up the 
beer industry for Small and Medium Enterprise players, in 
which total retail sales in Singapore in 2014 were estimated 
to be S$2.28 billion.

In March 2016, CCS took 10 financial advisers to task 
for pressurising a competitor, iFAST Financial Pte Ltd 

(“iFAST”), to withdraw its novel offer of a 50% commission 
rebate on competing life insurance products on the 
Fundsupermart.com website. The offer was an innovative 
one, but the collective conduct of the 10 financial advisers 
in pressurising iFAST into withdrawing the offer, had 
prevented the life insurance market from shifting to a 
more competitive and innovative state.

Further to the ASEAN ambition of a single aviation market 
through the liberalisation of air travel in ASEAN, the ASEAN 
aviation industry has enjoyed exponential growth in recent 
years. This vibrant market has seen increased entry and 
exit of airlines, new routes being created and alliances 
and joint venture agreements among airlines, of which 18 
have been notified to the CCS to date. In September 2015, 
the strategic alliance agreement between Cebu Pacific 
and Tigerair Singapore was cleared but only after the 
parties agreed to lessen the level of cooperation following 
competition concerns raised by the CCS on two routes 
between Singapore and the Philippines.

The year 2015 saw the extension of the Competition 
(Block Exemption for Liner Shipping Agreements) Order 
(“BEO”) for another five years until 31 December 2020 
after the Minister for Trade and Industry (Trade) gave his 
approval based on CCS’s market study of the industry. The 
extension of the BEO will allow the connectivity of liner 
shipping services in Singapore to provide a high degree 
of connectivity and choice for Singapore’s importers and 
exporters. Agreements between liners to share vessel 
space will also increase the utilisation of space, enable 
more frequent services and enhance competition with 
larger liners.

ADVOCATING FAIR COMPETITION BY ENGAGING 
OUR KEY STAKEHOLDERS

During the year in review, CCS issued a total of 28 competition 
advisories to other public sector agencies through studying 
and understanding the affected markets and the impact 
of government policies on competition. 

In advocating for pro-competition regulations to effectively 
balance policy objectives and competition that benefit both 
businesses and consumers, CCS proactively engages 
government agencies to help them understand competition 
issues and factor competition considerations into their 
policy making. The Policy and Markets Division is currently 
reviewing the Competition Impact Assessment framework 
to help government agencies make policies that are 
competition-friendly.
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On 25 January 2016, over 42 high-level representatives 
from the Community of Practice for Competition and 
Economic Regulators (“COPCOMER”) agencies attended a 
Tea Session and discussed the opportunities and risks of 
a sharing economy. This topic was useful for COPCOMER 
agencies to consider their approach to regulation in light 
of the rise of sharing technologies (e.g. Uber & Airbnb), 
particularly to maximise the opportunities brought about 
by these technologies while mitigating the risks involved.

CCS has also completed a revamp to our outreach collaterals. 
The new set of collaterals consists of four booklets to 
focus on helping our key stakeholders – businesses, 
consumers and government agencies better understand 
the Competition Act. In the same manner, our corporate 
website was also given a facelift as part of on-going efforts 
to improve information accessibility to the public. 

As part of the regional and international competition 
community, CCS plays its part to support the roll out and 
implementation of competition policy and law in the ASEAN 
Economic Community.

CCS has played an active role in the ASEAN’s Expert Group 
on Competition (“AEGC”) since its inaugural chairmanship in 
2008. CCS currently chairs the work group on developing 
strategy and tools for regional competition advocacy. 
We have developed a toolkit on strategies and tools for 
regional competition advocacy, which was launched at 
the 2016 International Competition Network (“ICN”) Annual 
Conference hosted by CCS. 

Regional Free Trade Agreements (“FTAs”) are an important 
part of competition architecture. In 2015, the Trans-Pacific 
Partnership (“TPP”) was concluded. It involves 12 economies 
– the United States, Australia, Brunei, Chile, Canada, 
Japan, Malaysia, Mexico, New Zealand, Peru, Singapore 
and Vietnam, and accounts for 793 million people, with a 
combined GDP of US$28 trillion. CCS was involved in the 
negotiations of the TPP’s competition chapter. This, to date, 
is the most comprehensive competition policy chapter that 
has been concluded in all the FTAs that Singapore has 
signed with other economic partners. 

The Regional Comprehensive Economic Partnership 
(“RCEP”) involves 10 ASEAN member states and six 
of ASEAN’s dialogue partners – Australia, China, India, 
Japan, New Zealand and South Korea – accounting 
for a collective market of more than 3 billion people 
and a combined GDP of about US$20 trillion. As chair 
for the Working Group on Competition, we have made 

good progress by concluding negotiations on certain 
substantive provisions.

STRIVING FOR ORGANISATIONAL EXCELLENCE

CCS achieved the People Developer Award in September 
2015. The award is recognition of CCS as a nurturing 
organisation that invests in our people, systems, and 
processes to achieve organisational effectiveness. CCS 
also achieved industry leading employee engagement 
results when compared against benchmarks in the biennial 
Employee Engagement Survey. 

To further strengthen the management team and as part 
of leadership renewal, three of CCS’s Deputy Directors 
have been promoted to Director level appointments while 
the incumbent Director (Legal & Enforcement) ended his 
secondment with CCS. The new Directors will head the 
Legal Division, Enforcement Division and the Research 
and Publication Unit (“RPU”). 

The RPU is formed to provide strategic direction to CCS’s 
economic and legal research efforts, as well as to coordinate 
these efforts internally and externally to encourage 
the advancement of understanding and awareness of 
competition matters in Singapore and ASEAN. The RPU 
seeks to develop a strong research culture for CCS officers 
to build deep expertise and to provide thought leadership 
on topics like competition economics and policy and law. 
In this regard, CCS officers have published five research 
papers in FY 2015 on topics of competition economics 
and policies. 

The Strategic Planning Division has also been renamed as 
the International and Strategic Planning Division. This is in 
line with CCS expanding its international linkages as well 
as supporting the ASEAN Economic Community through 
competition policy and law.

CCS is committed to ensuring that markets work well for both 
businesses and consumers in Singapore. CCS will continue 
to strengthen capacities and competencies, and facilitate 
regional cooperation to help companies in Singapore deal 
effectively with the changing business environment.
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CHAIRMAN & COMMISSION 
MEMBERS 

The Commission oversees the core  
work of CCS. It comprises the Chairman 
and eight Commission Members. They 
bring with them their expertise in legal, 
economic and financial domains from 
the public and private sectors. The 
Chairman and Commission Members 
are appointed by the Minister for 
Trade and Industry. The non-executive 
Commission Members are remunerated 
based on Public Service Division (“PSD”) 
guidelines.

HUMAN RESOURCE (HR) COMMITTEE 

The CCS HR Committee was set up 
in August 2007. Ms Chia Aileen is the 
Chairman of the HR Committee. The 
committee members are Ms Chionh Sze 
Chyi Mavis, S.C. and Mr Toh Han Li. The 
HR Committee advises the Commission 
on the formulation and implementation 
of appropriate HR policies as part of its 
continuous effort to ensure that CCS is 
a choice employer. It also oversees staff 
performance appraisals to ensure that 
staff are being objectively appraised 
and rewarded, as well as manages and 
decides on internal disclosure and staff 
disciplinary cases.

CORPORATE 
GOVERNANCE 

BUSINESS & ETHICAL CONDUCT 

All CCS officers are subject to the 
provisions of the Official Secrets Act, 
as well as the Statutory Bodies and 
Government Companies (Protection of 
Secrecy) Act. In addition, the Competition 
Act contains provisions governing the 
disclosure of information by CCS staff. 
CCS officers are also bound by CCS’s 
Code of Conduct and are obliged to 
adhere to internal policies to avoid 
conflict of interest.

AUDIT COMMITTEE 

The Audit Committee is chaired by 
Mr Wong Yew Meng, with Dr Andrew 
Khoo and Professor Phang Sock Yong 
as members. The Audit Committee’s 
main responsibilities are to assist 
the Commission in carrying out its 
responsibilities in areas relating to 
internal controls, auditing, financial 
and accounting matters, regulatory 
compliance, and risk management. In 
addition, the Audit Committee reviews 
the audited annual financial statements 
and the adequacy of CCS’s accounting, 
internal control systems with the 
management, external auditors and 
internal auditors.

EXTERNAL AUDIT FUNCTIONS 

Deloitte & Touche LLP was appointed by 
the Minister for Trade and Industry in 
consultation with the Auditor-General 
to audit the accounts of CCS for FY 
2015. The audited accounts are duly 
approved by the Commission and the 
Minister for Trade and Industry. The 
Auditor-General is also kept informed 
of these audit reports.
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CCS Milestones

2005
JANUARY
Established as a statutory 
board under the Ministry 
of Trade and Industry

AUGUST
Officially launched by the 
Minister for Trade and 
Industry

DECEMBER
Issued a set of guidelines 
to businesses on how 
CCS will enforce the 
Competition Act
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2007
JULY
Prohibitions against 
Mergers that Substantially 
Lessen Competition 
(Section 54) came into force

2008
JANUARY
Issued 1st Infringement 
Decision against six pest 
control companies for 
collusive tendering 
(bid-rigging)

MARCH 2008 - 
MARCH 2009
Became Inaugural Chair of 
the ASEAN Experts Group 
on Competition (“AEGC”)

2006
JANUARY
Prohibitions against Anti- 
Competitive Agreements 
(Section 34) and Abuse of 
Dominance (Section 47) 
came into force

OCTOBER
Conducted first public 
consultation exercise on the 
proposed merger regime

2009
MARCH 2009 - 
FEBRUARY 2010
Assumed Chairmanship 
of the of AEGC Regional 
Guidelines Working Group

NOVEMBER
Issued 2nd Infringement 
Decision against 16 coach 
operators and association 
for price-fixing
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2012
JUNE
Published revised 
guidelines on merger 
procedures 

CAB upheld CCS’s 
decision against ticketing 
service provider for 
abusing its dominant 
position

JULY
Issued 7th Infringement 
Decision against 
two competing ferry 
operators for unlawful 
sharing of price 
information

2011
MARCH
First ruling by the 
Competition Appeal Board 
(“CAB”) against appeals 
on price-fixing by coach 
operators. CAB upheld 
CCS’s finding on liability

SEPTEMBER
Issued 5th Infringement 
Decision against 16 
employment agencies for 
price-fixing

NOVEMBER
Issued 6th Infringement 
Decision against 10 
modelling agencies for 
price-fixing

2013
MARCH
Issued 8th Infringement 
Decision against 12 motor 
vehicle traders for bid-
rigging activities at public 
auctions

APRIL
CAB dismissed most 
grounds of appeal by 
modelling agencies 
asking for substantial 
penalty reduction 

NOVEMBER
Launched the inaugural 
Competition Policy and 
Law Web Portal and 
Collateral Materials for 
ASEAN as Chair of the 
AEGC Work Group on 
Developing Strategy 
and Tools for Regional 
Advocacy

Set up Policy and Markets 
Division

2010
JUNE
Issued 3rd Infringement 
Decision against 
ticketing service provider 
for abusing its 
dominant position

Issued 4th Infringement 
Decision against 14 
electrical & building works 
companies for bid-rigging

AUGUST
Issued Decision against 
Singapore Medical 
Association’s Guidelines 
on Fees

NOVEMBER
Unveiled the Handbook 
on Competition Policy 
and Law in ASEAN 
for Businesses, and 
the ASEAN Regional 
Guidelines on Competition 
Policy at the inaugural 
AEGC Business Forum 
in Singapore
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2015
MARCH
CCS took a provisional 
decision to block Parkway 
Holding Ltd’s proposed 
acquisition of Radlink-
Asia Pte. Ltd.

JUNE
Cordlife removes 
exclusive arrangements 
following CCS’s 
investigation

JULY
CCS celebrated its 10th 
anniversary

OCTOBER
Asia Pacific Breweries 
(Singapore) ends 
exclusive business 
practices following CCS’s 
investigation

2016
MARCH
Issued 11th Infringement 
Decision against 10 
financial advisers for 
engaging in an anti-
competitive agreement

APRIL
Hosted the International 
Competition Network 
(“ICN”) Annual Conference 
2016 in Singapore

2014
FEBRUARY
Assumed Chairmanship 
of the Working Group on 
Competition for Regional 
Comprehensive Economic 
Partnership (“RCEP”)

MAY
Issued 9th Infringement 
against four Japanese 
bearings manufacturers 
and their Singapore 
subsidiaries (CCS’s 1st 
international cartel case)

DECEMBER
Issued 10th Infringement 
Decision against 10 
freight forwarders 
and their Singapore 
subsidiaries for price-
fixing (2nd international 
cartel case)



Guiding You To 
New Heights 

TRANSPORT

HEALTHCARE

MANUFACTURING

FOOD & BEVERAGE

FINANCE

GOVERNMENT ADVOCACY

20

34

24

38

30

42

As the main professional authority advocating and enforcing competition, CCS continually 
strives to level the playing field for businesses and consumers alike. Ensuring a fair, vibrant and 
competitive market allows Singapore’s economy to remain vibrant.

The following chapter details the many cases which CCS pursued during this year in review, and 
the steps which were taken to ensure that all the players in the market knew and abided by 
the rules and the Competition Act. By safeguarding these rules and the Act, CCS symbolically 
guided markets to new heights, challenging them to look in different directions and to innovate.





A robust competition law regime 
helps ensure a level-playing field 
where businesses can compete fairly 
based on their own merits free of 
distortions and impediments created 
by anti-competitive conduct. It gives all 
businesses a fair chance to grow and 
reach new heights.

In the course of competing to thrive 
and grow, businesses need to steer 

CCS’s Leniency Programme includes 
provisions for informants to apply for 
leniency in the case that substantial 
information or evidence about a cartel 
is not initially available. It then provides 
time to collect the pertinent information 
or evidence required to complete the 
application. If the applicant meets the 
relevant criteria, and is the first to notify 
CCS, the applicant may face one of the two 
following cases:

• If CCS has not commenced an 
investigation into the cartel: Entitled to 
total immunity from financial penalties 

• I f  CC S has  commenced an 
investigation into the cartel: Not 
qualified for total immunity but may 
still qualify for a reduction of up to 
100% of the financial penalty

COMPETITION COMPLIANCE 
PROGRAMME:

LENIENCY AND LENIENCY 
PLUS PROGRAMME: 

clear from engaging in anti-competitive 
conduct. Being aware of the risks of 
infringing competition law by developing 
a compliance strategy helps businesses 
learn how to protect themselves and 
mitigate the risks. The CCS guidelines to 
a Competition Compliance Programme 
help businesses put one in place. 

Subsequent leniency applicants that 
cooperate and provide evidence of cartel 
activity may be entitled up to a 50% 
reduction of the financial penalty. 

CCS’s Leniency Plus Programme 
encourages applicants under investigation 
(in the first market) to further cooperate 
with CCS by reporting involvement in a 
separate cartel in another market (the 
second market). If qualified, businesses 
will be granted leniency (either immunity 
or a reduction of financial penalties) in 
relation to the second cartel (where CCS 
has not commenced its investigations) 
and additional reduction in financial 
penalties in relation to the first cartel. 
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STATUS AS AT 31 MARCH 2016 FY15 FY14 FY13
SINCE CCS 

STARTED

Preliminary Enquiries 10 16 18 103

Investigations 7 2 2 36

Notifications for Guidance or Decision 1 3 8 28

Merger Notifications (Phase 1) 3 11 1 51

Merger Notifications (Phase 2) 1 2 0 7

Confidential Advice 1 3 2 8

Leniency 2 3 2 14

Appeals 0 1 2 8

Competition Advisories 28 31 12 95

Market Studies 1 2 3 17

TOTAL (EXCLUDING COMPLAINTS) 54 74 50 367

SUMMARY OF COMPLETED CASES
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though the barriers to entry are low as 
it was not deemed profitable in general. 
On the Singapore-Cebu route where 
both airlines account for a significant 
market share, industry feedback 
indicated that a new entrant in the 
next 12 months was unlikely.

In view of the competition concerns on 
the Singapore – Clark and the Singapore 
– Cebu routes, CCS concluded that the 
strategic alliance would not satisfy the 
requirements in order to benefit from 
the Net Economic Benefit exclusion. 

To address the competition concerns, 
the two airlines made some revisions 
to their alliance. Specifically, to not 
coordinate on any commercial activities 
such as pricing, surcharges and 
capacity, and to not undertake any form 
of revenue sharing on the Singapore-
Clark and Singapore-Cebu routes. 

The air l ines wil l ,  instead,  just 
coordinate on the minimum and 
maximum connecting times in their 
booking systems to create joint 
interline itineraries, where passengers 
need to travel on multiple airlines as 
part of their itineraries. The scheduling 
of flights will be done independently. 
This means that the passengers 
could possibly benefit from improved 
connectivity without the fares being 
coordinated by the airlines. 

REVISED STRATEGIC 
ALLIANCE BETWEEN CEBU 
PACIFIC AND TIGERAIR 
SINGAPORE CLEARED FOR 
TAKE-OFF 

TRANSPORT | NOTIFICATION

Case Team Members: 
Yeo Hui Chuan
Edmund Lam
Jayme Leong
Ng Ming Jie
Lynette Chua
Ng Ee Kia

On 21 September 2015, Cebu Air, 
Inc .  ( “Cebu Paci f ic” )  and T iger 
Airways Singapore Pte Ltd. (“Tigerair 
Singapore”) received the green light 
for a strategic alliance between them 
on common flight routes between 
Singapore and the Philippines, following 
some changes made. The two airlines 
operate common routes between 
Singapore and Manila, Singapore and 
Clark, and Singapore and Cebu.

As the strategic alliance involves 
coordination on pricing, capacity and 
revenue sharing between the two 
airlines, CCS had considered that the 
strategic alliance would by its nature 
prevent, restrict or distort competition 
on the overlapping common routes. 

As both air l ines were the only 
competitors operating the Singapore-
Clark route, the alliance would eliminate 
competition on this route. Based on 
industry feedback, it was unlikely for 
other airlines to commence operation 
on this route in the near future even 

1. A g r e e m e n t s  w i t h 
net economic benefit 
enjoy exclusion only 
from the section 34 
p r o h ib i t i o n  o f  t h e 
Competition Act. Such 
agreements are those 
that improve production 
or  d is t r ibu t ion ,  or 
promote technical or 
economic progress, and 
in which restrictions are 
absolutely necessary to 
achieving these benefits 
and do not substantially 
eliminate competition.

CCS had considered  
t h a t  t h e  s t r a t e g i c 
alliance would by its 
nature prevent, restrict 
or distort competition  
on  t he  over l apping 
common routes.
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STRATEGIC ALLIANCE GIVEN THE GREEN LIGHT.

THE TWO AIRLINES MADE SOME REVISIONS 
TO THEIR ALLIANCE TO ADDRESS THE 

COMPETITION CONCERNS RAISED BY CCS.

PASSENGERS BENEFIT FROM BETTER 
CONNECTIVITY WITHOUT THE FARES BEING 

COORDINATED BY THE AIRLINES.

STRATEGIC ALLIANCE BETWEEN CEBU AIR AND 
TIGER AIRWAYS PROPOSED.

CASE OVERVIEW

Source: The Business Times (22 September 2015) © Singapore Press Holdings 
Limited. Permission required for reproduction
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INTERIM FINDINGS FROM 
CCS’S RETAIL PETROL 
STUDY

TRANSPORT | MARKET STUDY

Case Team Members: 
Ng Ming Jie
Neha Georgie
Stephanie Panayi
Nicholas Sim
Herbert Fung

CCS commenced a study into the retail 
petrol market in Singapore in 2015 
and studied the factors affecting the 
movement of petrol prices in Singapore 
since 2010. CCS’s interim findings based 
on information received from the petrol 
companies are as follow:

THE PETROL COMPANIES USE MEAN OF PLATTS 
SINGAPORE (“MOPS”) PRICES, NOT CRUDE OIL 

PRICES IN THEIR COST ACCOUNTING AND PRICING 
DECISIONS FOR RETAIL PETROL.

IN 2015, MOPS PRICE MADE UP LESS THAN ONE-
THIRD OF THE LISTED RETAIL PETROL PRICE.

2

1
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In addition, CCS would be conducting a consumer survey on petrol demand in 
Singapore to better understand consumer choices and switching behaviour 
on petrol purchases. CCS will release the final report when the analysis of the 
survey result is completed. 

THE RETAIL PETROL PRICE THAT CONSUMERS GENERALLY PAY INCLUDES THE PETROL LEVY AS WELL 
AS DISCOUNTS AND REBATES.

Between 1 January 2010 and 31 January 2016, it was observed that for every 10 SGD 
cents change in the price of MOPS, the listed petrol price changed by 7 SGD cents in 
the same direction, and this took place over a 10-day period on average.

THE LISTED RETAIL PETROL PRICE MOVED IN TANDEM WITH THE PRICE OF MOPS OVER THE STUDIED 
SIX-YEAR PERIOD BETWEEN 1 JANUARY 2010 AND 31 JANUARY 2016.

4

After taking into account the discounts, rebates and levy increase in February 2015, 
the effective price that consumers paid for Octane 95 was found to have fallen by 45 
SGD cents (-24%) instead. There appeared to be a relatively high level of pass-through 
of the fall in MOPS price to consumers over this period.

FOR THE PERIOD OF JUNE 2014 TO JANUARY 2016:

Crude and MOPS prices are 
converted from US to Singapore 
dollar to account for changes in 
exchange rates. MOPS prices are 
from Platts.

MOPS PRICE FELL BY 52 SGD 
CENTS (-53%)

CRUDE OIL PRICE 
FELL BY AN AVERAGE 
OF 59 SGD CENTS 
(-67%)

For the period between June 2014 
and January 2016, the pass-through 
of the change in MOPS price (52 SGD 
cents) to listed Octane 95 price (35 
SGD cents) was approximately 67%.

LISTED PRICE OF OCTANE 95 FELL 
BY 35 SGD CENTS (-15%).

5

BASED ON THE INFORMATION GATHERED, THERE WAS NO EVIDENCE TO 
SUGGEST COLLUSION IN PETROL PRICING, EVEN THOUGH PETROL COMPANIES 

MONITOR AND REACT TO EACH OTHER’S PUBLISHED PRICES.

6

Octane 95 
petrol is the 
most pumped 
petrol in 
Singapore.

Consumers enjoyed an average of about 18% 
in discounts and rebates off the listed price for 
Octane 95 petrol in 201495

3
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CCS CLEARS PROPOSED 
ACQUISITION OF 
DUPONT’S GLOBAL 
NEOPRENE BUSINESS BY 
DENKA AND MITSUI

MANUFACTURING | ACQUISITION

Case Team Members: 
Cindy Chang
Justina Sim
Kenneth Khoo
Liu Jing
Toh Shihua
Winnie Ching

CR is a general-purpose synthetic rubber 
that is widely used in the manufacturing 
industry to make adhesives, car parts, 
general industrial products and other 
products. Currently all supplies of CR in 
Singapore are imported, and over 90% 
of these come from Denka, Mitsui and 
DuPont (collectively the “Parties”). As such, 
CCS examined whether there would be a 
substantial lessening of competition in 
the market for the global supply of CR to 
Singapore, if the Proposed Transaction is 
carried into effect.

In its assessment, CCS sought feedback 
from industry stakeholders, including 
customers and competing global 
manufacturers of CR, none of whom 
raised concerns with the Proposed 
Transaction. After reviewing the 
collective information, CCS concluded 
that notwithstanding the high combined 
market share of the Parties in Singapore, 
the Proposed Transaction will not infringe 
section 54 prohibition of the Competition 
Act (Cap. 50B) (the “Act”) which prohibits 
mergers that have resulted, or may 
be expected to result, in a substantial 
lessening of competition in Singapore, 
for the following reasons.

Denka Performance Elastomer LLC, a 
joint venture between Denki Kagaku 
Kogyo Kabushiki Kaisha (“Denka”) and 
Mitsui & Co., Ltd. (“Mitsui”), proposed 
an acquisition of the chloroprene 
rubber (“CR”) business of E.I. du Pont 
de Nemours and Company (“DuPont”) 
(the “Proposed Transaction”). CCS has 
cleared this proposed acquisition. 
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CCS concluded that notwithstanding the high 
combined market share of the Parties in Singapore, 
the Proposed Transaction is unlikely to substantially 
lessen competition in any market.

There are no significant barriers 
to entry that may hinder or prevent 
existing global CR manufacturers and 
distributors from expanding or entering 
the market for supplying CR to Singapore. 
Existing global CR manufacturers can 
easily expand production, and potential 
competitors who are not currently active 
in supplying CR to Singapore are able 
to supply into Singapore should there 
be demand for their CR. This is mainly 
due to excess capacity in global CR 
production. Furthermore, ease of 
entry is facilitated by distributors who 
can aggregate demand; and entry 
for several potential competitors is 
also aided by the presence of their 
subsidiaries or sales offices currently 
located in Singapore.

There is considerable countervailing 
buyer power. Customers are able to (and 
do) switch between various suppliers 
of CR. Moreover, some Singapore 
customers are part of multinational 
groups which have the option of buying 
CR at prices negotiated on a global basis.

Coordinated effects are unlikely to be a 
concern due to low barriers to entry by 
potential suppliers as well as the difficulty 
in monitoring prices and compliance 
with any common understanding among 
existing CR suppliers.

Singapore’s demand for CR is small in relation to the 
significant excess capacity in global CR production. The 
ability of the merged firm to act unilaterally (e.g. to raise 
prices) is constrained as other global CR manufacturers 
with spare capacity can meet such demand.

In clearing the Proposed Transaction, CCS found that:

It was concluded that the Proposed Transaction is unlikely to substantially lessen 
competition in any market in Singapore, and therefore will not infringe the Act. The 
Parties overlap in the supply of CR worldwide, including to Singapore. Denka Performance 
Elastomer LLC is currently owned by Denka (70%) and Mitsui (30%). CCS issued its 
clearance decision for the Proposed Transaction to the Parties on 7 May 2015. 

1

4

3

2
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MERGER OF AIRFIELD 
LIGHTING SUPPLIERS 
APPROVED FOLLOWING 
ACCEPTANCE OF 
COMMITMENTS

MANUFACTURING | ACQUISITION

Case Team Members: 
Kong Weng Loong
Eileen Lee
Celestine Song
Cindy Chang
Ng Ee Kia

In its Phase 1 review in August 2015, CCS 
had raised competition concerns on ADB 
BVBA’s (“ADB”) proposed acquisition of 
Safegate International AB (“Safegate”) 
from Fairford Holdings Private AB 
(“Fairford”) (collectively the “Parties”). 
The Parties account for a substantial 
market share of more than 80% in the 
supply of airfield lighting (“AFL”) systems 
in Singapore, and they may be each 
other’s closest competitor. Based on 
feedback from other industry players 
and customers, this proposed acquisition 
could result in other AFL suppliers facing 
difficulties entering the market in the 
short to medium term, due to customers’ 
extensive testing requirements. Hence, 
the proposed acquisition may reduce 
competition in the affected market, lead 
to price increases and to the deterioration 
in quality and/ or technical support.
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The Parties have also committed to provide CCS an independent audit report on 
a regular basis so as to enable CCS to effectively monitor ADB’s compliance with 
the Proposed Commitments.

After evaluating feedback provided by industry players and customers during the 
public consultation exercise held in December 2015 on the proposed commitments, 
CCS cleared the proposed acquisition following the acceptance of the commitments 
offered by ADB. 

T h e  p r o p o s e d 
acquisition may 
reduce competition 
in the affected 
market and may 
l e a d  t o  p r i c e 
in c r ea s e s  a n d 
deterioration in 
quality and/ or 
technical support.

To address these competition concerns, the Parties have committed the following:

4

COMPETITION CONCERN 4: RETROACTIVELY TERMINATE OR 
JEOPARDISE AGREEMENTS THAT HAVE BEEN CONCLUDED BEFORE THE 
COMPLETION OF THE PROPOSED TRANSACTION

Commitment: To ensure that any contracts or agreements relating to the sale of 
specific products entered into between ADB, Safegate or another party and an 
airport operator in Singapore on or before the completion date of the Proposed 
Transaction shall continue in full force and effect after that.

1

COMPETITION CONCERN 1: INCREASE PRICES SIGNIFICANTLY POST-
MERGER

Commitment: For specified periods, certain products and spare parts sold directly 
or indirectly to any airport operator for use in Singapore will be subject to pre-
merger prices, adjusted for inflation.

2

COMPETITION CONCERN 2: REDUCE THE SUPPLY OF SPARE PARTS AND 
TECHNICAL SUPPORT TO CUSTOMERS

Commitment: To supply all required spare parts for specific products sold to any 
airport operator for use in Singapore for a period of ten years from the completion 
of the Proposed Transaction. Both will also supply any technical support required 
for these products to the airport operators.

3

COMPETITION CONCERN 3: “LOCK IN” PARTY CONTRACTORS AND 
SUPPLIERS IN SINGAPORE USING EXCLUSIVE AGREEMENTS SUCH THAT 
COMPETING AFL SYSTEM SUPPLIERS ARE UNABLE TO FIND SUITABLE 
PARTNERS TO ENTER THE SINGAPORE MARKET

Commitment: Not to enter into any agreements with any contractor or supplier 
in Singapore which expressly or have the effect of preventing the latter from 
carrying, promoting or offering alternative competing products and services, for 
four years from the completion of the Proposed Transaction.
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GREEN LIGHT FOR PROPOSED 
ACQUISITION BY WESTERN DIGITAL 
CORPORATION OF SANDISK 
CORPORATION 

MANUFACTURING | ACQUISITION

Case Team Members 
Harikumar Pillay
Qiu Huixiang
Lim Wei Lu
Jayme Leong

On 20 January 2016, CCS cleared the 
proposed acquisition of sole control by 
Western Digital Corporation (“WDC”) 
of SanDisk Corporation (“SanDisk”) 
(collectively the “Parties”). 

Both Parties are involved in the 
manufacture and supply of digital 
storage solutions. WDC produces hard 
disk drives (“HDDs”) for a number of 
uses[1], along with external and business 
storage solutions. SanDisk, on the other 
hand, specialises in flash memory 
solutions[2] along with producing 
flash storage solutions for enterprise 
datacentres and client computing 
plat forms, and storage solution 
software used in its consumer products. 

CCS has determined that the only area 
of overlap, both globally and within 
Singapore, was in the supply of Enterprise 
Solid State Drives (“SSDs”). For the 
purposes of the merger assessment, CCS 
considered the relevant market as that 
for the global supply of interface-specific 
Enterprise SSDs[3] to customers globally 
as different interfaces help determine 
the functionalities and performance of 
Enterprise SSDs (the “Relevant Market”).[4] 

CCS reviewed the Parties’ submissions 
and feedback from customers 
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and competitors following a public 
consultation. The proposed acquisition is 
unlikely to lead to a substantial lessening 
of competition within the Relevant Market 
in Singapore for the following reasons:

1. These may be used in 
personal computers, 
consumer electronics, 
cloud computing and 
datacentre applications, 
enterprise class solid 
state drives, and hybrid 
drives. 

2. These include Enterprise 
SSDs, SSDs for consumer-
operated devices, as well 
as removable cards, 
USB flash drives and 
embedded flash products 
for mobile and connected 
a p p l i c a t i o n s  a n d 
consumer electronics. 

3. There are three main 
inter face standards 
used for Enterprise 
SSDs, namely: (i) Serial 
Advanced Technology 
Attachment (“SATA”); 
(ii) Serial Attached SCSI 
(“SAS”) where SCSI stands 
for Small Computer 
System Interface; and 
(iii) Peripheral Component 
Interconnect Express 
(“PCIe”). 

4. The Parties submitted 
a wider product market 
definition of all Enterprise 
Solid State Storage 
products, which would 
include at minimum 
Enterprise SSDs of all 
interfaces and NAND-
based All Flash Arrays 
(“AFA”s). 

5. Although the post-
Transaction market 
share figures of the 
P ar t i e s  c r o s s  t h e 
indicative thresholds 
for both SAS interface 
Enterprise SSDs and 
PCIe interface Enterprise 
SSDs, the market can be 
categorised as that of a 
bidding market, and hence 
historical market shares 
might not be completely 
reflective of competition 
in future bids. The number 
of credible competitors is 
thus a better reflection 
of competition in the 
Relevant Market.

POST-TRANSACTION, THERE WILL STILL BE 
NUMEROUS CREDIBLE COMPETITORS TO THE 
MERGED ENTITY, INCLUDING SAMSUNG, INTEL 

AND TOSHIBA, IN THE RELEVANT MARKET.[5]

CUSTOMERS ARE ABLE TO SWITCH TO ALTERNATIVE 
SUPPLIERS WITHOUT SUBSTANTIAL SWITCHING 

COSTS, AND SOME CUSTOMERS ARE ABLE TO 
PROCURE COMPONENTS TO DEVELOP THEIR OWN 

ENTERPRISE SSDS OR SPONSOR  
NEW ENTRANTS. 

BARRIERS TO ENTRY ARE RELATIVELY LOW 
AS ENTRY INTO THE RELEVANT MARKET 
IN SINGAPORE IS NOT REGULATED AND 

PROSPECTIVE ENTRANTS DO NOT NEED TO BE 
PHYSICALLY PRESENT IN SINGAPORE.

1

2

3
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CCS FINES 10 FINANCIAL 
ADVISERS

FINANCE | INVESTIGATION

Case Team Members: 
Kong Weng Loong
Edmund Lam
Cindy Chang
Jaime Pang
Tan Hi Lin

advisers, namely Avallis, Cornerstone, 
Financial Alliance, Frontier, JPARA, 
Promiseland, RAY and WYNNES met 
at a Management Committee meeting 
of the Association of Financial Advisers 
(Singapore) (“AFA”). During this meeting, 
the Fundsupermart Offer was discussed 
and Financial Alliance was appointed 
as their representative, to contact and 
pressurise iFAST into withdrawing the 
Fundsupermart Offer. 

From 2 May 2013 to 3 May 2013, Financial 
All iance continually pressurised 
iFAST to withdraw its Fundsupermart 
Offer. Two other financial advisers 
(IPP and PIAS) who were copied in 
the communications from Financial 
Alliance to iFAST also declared their 
support to Financial Alliance and 
contacted iFAST directly to contribute 
to the efforts. This resulted in iFAST 
withdrawing the Fundsupermart Offer 
in the afternoon of 3 May 2013. 

iFAST only reintroduced a new 
offer for life insurance products on 
Fundsupermart.com in August 2015. 

Ten financial advisers (collectively 
referred to as the “Par ties”) in 
Singapore were found to have engaged 
in an anti-competitive agreement. They 
pressurised their competitor, iFAST 
Financial Pte Ltd (“iFAST”), to withdraw 
its offer of a 50% commission rebate 
on competing life insurance products 
on the Fundsupermart.com website 
(“Fundsupermart Offer”). 

On 30 April 2013, iFAST launched a 
Fundsupermart Offer, which presented 
purchasers of life insurance policies with 
a 50% commission rebate, allowing them 
to enjoy great cost savings. Just a few 
days later, on 3 May 2013, this lucrative 
offer was withdrawn. 

Investigations commenced after CCS 
noticed media reports which suggested 
that iFAST withdrew the Fundsupermart 
Offer due to unhappiness in the industry. 
A complainant also directed such a media 
report to CCS.

The investigations revealed that 
on 2 May 2013, a group of financial 
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CASE TIMELINE

IFAST LAUNCHED OFFER OF A 
50% COMMISSION REBATE ON 
LIFE INSURANCE PRODUCTS 
ON FUNDSUPERMART.COM

GROUP OF FINANCIAL 
ADVISERS MET, DISCUSSED 
AND PRESSURISED 
IFAST TO WITHDRAW 
FUNDSUPERMART OFFER

CCS ISSUED PID AGAINST 10 
FINANCIAL ADVISERS FOR 
PRESSURISING COMPETING 
LIFE INSURANCE OFFER TO BE 
WITHDRAWN FROM MARKET

IFAST WITHDREW 
FUNDSUPERMART OFFER 

IFAST REINTRODUCTED NEW OFFER 
FOR LIFE INSURANCE PRODUCTS ON 
FUNDSUPERMART.COM

FINANCIAL ADVISERS 
PENALISED BY CCS

30 APRIL 
2013

2 MAY 
2013

3 MAY 
2013

28 MAY 
2015

AUGUST 
2015

17 MARCH 
2016
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Source: The Straits Times (18 March 2016) © Singapore Press Holdings Limited. Permission required for reproduction

Source: The Straits Times (13 May 2013) © Singapore Press Holdings Limited. Permission required for reproduction

THE NATURE OF 
INFRINGEMENT AND THE 

FINANCIAL ADVISORY 
INDUSTRY

CIRCUMSTANCES UNDER 
WHICH THE INFRINGEMENT 

WAS COMMITTED

DURATION OF THE 
INFRINGEMENT AND ITS 

EFFECTS

AGGRAVATING AND 
MITIGATING FACTORS

REPRESENTATIONS MADE BY 
THE PARTIES

HOW FINANCIAL 
PENALTIES ARE 

CALCULATED

CCS MAY TAKE INTO 
CONSIDERATION THE 

FOLLOWING, AMONGST OTHER 
THINGS, WHEN IMPOSING A 

FINANCIAL PENALTY:
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The Parties are:

a Avallis Financial Pte Ltd, 

formerly First Principal 

Financial Pte Ltd (“Avallis”);

b Cornerstone Planners Pte Ltd 

(“Cornerstone”);

c Financial Alliance Pte Ltd 

(“Financial Alliance”);

d Frontier Wealth Management 

Pte Ltd (“Frontier”);

e IPP Financial Advisers Pte Ltd 

(“IPP”);

f JPARA Solutions Pte Ltd 

(“JPARA”);

g Professional Investment 

Advisory Services Pte Ltd 

(“PIAS”);

h Promiseland Independent Pte 

Ltd (“Promiseland”);

i RAY Al l iance Financial 

Advisers Pte Ltd (“RAY”); and

j WYNNES Financial Advisers 

Pte Ltd (“WYNNES”)

PARTY
FINANCIAL 

PENALTY

Avallis S$54,788

Cornerstone S$13,781

Financial Alliance S$137,524

Frontier S$5,000

IPP S$239,851

JPARA S$5,000

PIAS S$405,114

Promiseland S$31,305

RAY S$11,939

WYNNES S$5,000

TOTAL S$909,302

This was also shortly after CCS issued 
a Proposed Infringement Decision to the 
Parties which was publicised.

CCS found that the Parties’ conduct to 
prevent a competitor from providing 
a lower-cost offer to consumers not 
only restricted, but was also likely to 
have an adverse effect on competition 
in the market. The Parties’ commercial 
relationship with iFAST in its unit trust 
business contributed significantly to 
iFAST’s revenues and placed them in a 
position to exert pressure on iFAST. CCS 
further noted that the Fundsupermart Offer 
was particularly attractive to customers 
because the general industry practice 
of financial advisers is to not provide 
commission rebates to policyholders.

In terms of market impact, iFAST 
has a wide client base of over 50,000 
through Fundsupermart.com and can 
reach out to other visitors as well. The 
traffic at Fundsupermart.com, including 
direct e-mailers and regular visitors, is 
estimated to reach up to over 100,000 
over a few months. Some of the Parties 
themselves had expressed their concern 

The Fundsupermart Offer was an innovative one that allowed iFAST to reach out 
to a wide client base through an established online platform, save on distribution 
costs, and pass on these cost savings to consumers through a significant commission 
rebate. The parties’ conduct to collectively pressurise iFAST into withdrawing the 
Fundsupermart Offer prevented the life insurance market from shifting to a more 
competitive state.

Agreements between competitors to collectively pressurise a competitor to 
withdraw an offering can constitute anti-competitive conduct. Businesses should 
instead determine their own individual responses to competition. CCS will enforce 
the law, where necessary, to ensure that new and innovative players can access 
markets and compete fairly.

about their own customers switching 
to iFAST or seeking from them rebates 
similar to those offered by iFAST. Had 
iFAST’s offer remained on the market, the 
Parties might have had to make similar or 
new offers to respond to the competitive 
threat of commission rebates from the 
Fundsupermart Offer. The following 
financial penalties were imposed on 
the Parties: 

CCS Chief Executive, Mr Toh Han Li
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In June 2014, CCS started investigating 
Cordlife Group Limited (“Cordlife”) 
because of its exclusive agreements 
with baby fair organisers and hospitals. 
These agreements potentially had the 
effect of limiting competition from other 
providers of cord blood bank services in 
Singapore. Cordlife would have infringed 
the Competition Act for abusing its 
dominant position if these agreements 
were found to restrict competition in the 
cord blood bank industry.

Cordlife then provided CCS with voluntary 
commitments to remove the existing 
exclusive arrangements, and to ensure 
that going forward, it does not have 
such exclusive arrangements with any 
baby fair or private maternity hospital 
in Singapore. Cordlife was also required 
to provide CCS with a confirmation that 
the affected baby fair organisers and 
hospitals had been informed of the 
change in Cordlife’s business practices.

CORDLIFE REMOVES 
EXCLUSIVE 
ARRANGEMENTS WITH 
BABY FAIR ORGANISERS 
AND HOSPITALS

HEALTHCARE | INVESTIGATION

Case Team Members: 
Tan Hi Lin
Lynette Chua
Jayme Leong
Herbert Fung
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CCS ceased its investigation after 
reviewing the facts and circumstances 
of the case and on the basis of the given 
commitments. There will still be a close 
monitoring of the market practices 
in the cord blood bank industry and 
CCS reserves the right to reopen the 
investigation should Cordlife breach any 
of its commitments.

EXCLUSIVE AGREEMENTS WITH 
BABY FAIR ORGANISERS AND 

HOSPITALS

BUSINESSES THAT ARE 
UNSURE AS TO WHETHER 

THEY FULLY COMPLY WITH THE 
COMPETITION ACT SHOULD 

EITHER:

SEEK INDEPENDENT 
LEGAL ADVICE

APPLY FOR GUIDANCE 
FROM CCS

POTENTIALLY LIMITS 
COMPETITION FROM 
OTHER PROVIDERS

CASE OVERVIEW

CCS encourages all businesses to proactively put in place 
competition compliance programmes to ensure their 
business conduct fully complies with the Competition 
Act. Businesses that are unsure as to whether they 
fully comply with the Competition Act should either 
seek independent legal advice or consider applying for 
guidance from CCS.

CCS encourages all businesses to 
proactively put in place competition 
compliance programmes to ensure their 
business conduct fully complies with the 
Competition Act. Businesses that are 
unsure as to whether they fully comply 
with the Competition Act should either 
seek independent legal advice or consider 
applying for guidance from CCS. 

Source: The Straits Times (18 June 2015) 
© Singapore Press Holdings Limited. 
Permission required for reproduction
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CCS’S STUDY FINDS NO 
ADVERSE EFFECT ON 
COMPETITION IN THE 
KIDNEY DIALYSIS MARKET 
AFTER MERGER

HEALTHCARE | MARKET STUDY

Case Team Members: 
Lim Wei Lu
Toh Shihua
Ng Ming Jie
Ng Ee Kia

CCS’s post-merger study of the kidney 
dialysis market followed its decision 
to clear the acquisition by Asia Renal 
Care (SEA) Pte Ltd of Orthe Pte Ltd in 
2012 (the “Acquisition”). This study was 
part of CCS’s on-going efforts to assess 
the impact of its interventions so as 
to ensure markets work well for both 
businesses and consumers in Singapore.

THE BARRIERS TO ENTRY 
AND EXPANSION BY NEW 

PROVIDERS IN THE KIDNEY 
DIALYSIS MARKET WERE NOT 

HIGH.

TREATMENT SERVICES ACROSS 
PROVIDERS WERE LARGELY 

SIMILAR.

PATIENTS COULD SWITCH 
EASILY BETWEEN DIALYSIS 

CENTRES.

IN THE AREAS WHERE THE MERGED PARTIES’ DIALYSIS CENTRES WERE NEAR EACH 
OTHER, THERE WAS ALSO AT LEAST ONE OTHER COMPETING PROVIDER LOCATED IN 

THE VICINITY. 

Although the Acquisition resulted in a 
merged entity Fresenius Medical Care 
Singapore (“FMC”) with a high combined 
market share[1] that significantly 
exceeded 40%, CCS allowed the merger 
to proceed on the basis that there 
would not be a substantial lessening 
of competition because:

1

4

2 3
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1. The relevant market is 
defined to be outpatient 
haemodialysis treatment 
in dialysis centres 
operated by restructured 
hospitals and private 
sector service providers, 
including joint ventures 
between restructured 
hospitals and private 
operators in Singapore. 
Accordingly, the relevant 
market excludes services 
provided by Voluntary 
Welfare Organisations.

2. Market shares are based 
on estimated number of 
patients.

3. For the regional analysis 
of the kidney dialysis 
market, the market is 
divided into smaller 
regions namely, North, 
Central, East, West and 
Northeast.

4. Advance Renal Care, 
K idneycare, Pacif ic 
Advance Renal Care, 
and ARCA (Farrer Park) 
Dialysis entered the 
kidney dialysis market 
after the merger.

Based on the study, CCS found that, in the period of December 2012 to June 2015:

The Paper has been independently reviewed by Assistant Professor Aamir Hashmi, 
National University of Singapore. He concluded that the Paper provided convincing 
evidence that CCS’s decision on the merger did not cause any adverse effect on 
competition in the kidney dialysis market. 

CAPACITY OF DIALYSIS SERVICES IN SINGAPORE INCREASED, THE NUMBER OF 
DIALYSIS CENTRES INCREASED FROM 39 TO 60, AND THE CAPACITY OF TREATMENT 
SLOTS INCREASED FROM ABOUT 2,000 TO ALMOST 3,000 PER WEEK.

FMC’S MARKET SHARE FELL FROM 70% TO 53% DUE TO THE EXPANSION AND 
ENTRY OF COMPETING FIRMS.[2]

NEW DIALYSIS CENTRES WERE SET UP BY COMPETING PROVIDERS ACROSS 
ALL FIVE MAJOR SUB-REGIONS OF SINGAPORE[3], AND THESE CENTRES WERE 
ABLE TO ACHIEVE SIMILAR USAGE RATES TO THOSE OF FMC.[4] THIS FINDING IS 
CONSISTENT WITH CCS’S EARLIER ASSESSMENT THAT BARRIERS TO ENTRY AND 
EXPANSION IN THE MARKET WERE NOT HIGH.

PRICES FOR DIALYSIS FELL RELATIVE TO PRICES FOR OTHER MEDICAL 
TREATMENTS. THE STUDY ALSO SHOWED THAT AVERAGE PRICES FOR DIALYSIS 
DID NOT INCREASE. 

1

2

3

Source: The Straits Times (26 April 2016) © 
Singapore Press Holdings Limited. Permission 
required for reproduction
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ASIA PACIFIC BREWERIES 
(SINGAPORE) ENDS 
EXCLUSIVE BUSINESS 
PRACTICES FOLLOWING 
CCS INVESTIGATION

FOOD & BEVERAGE | INVESTIGATION

Case Team Members: 
Timothy Chew
Candice Lee
Serene Seet
Lim Wei Lu
Neha Georgie
Herbert Fung

Asia Pacific Breweries (Singapore) 
(“APBS”) ended its practice of supplying 
draught beer to retailers on an exclusive 
basis, following investigations by CCS.

CCS began these investigations based 
on complaints relating to APBS’s outlet-
exclusivity practice. During the course of its 
investigations, CCS obtained information 
on the beer market in Singapore from 

“It’s great for consumers. I’m all for it. Retailers are in 
the best position to know what customers want to 
drink,” said Mr Adrian Sim, director of a restaurant and 
bar and the sole distributor of a range of international 
beer brands (as quoted in The Straits Times article ‘APB 
to stop supplying beer to retailers on exclusive basis’ 
on 29 October 2015).

retailers and beer suppliers. A study was 
also commissioned to collect information 
on market practices. 

CCS found that APBS’s outlet-exclusivity 
practice had prevented retail outlets 
from selling draught beers from rival 
suppliers and limited the choices available 
to retailers and consumers. Feedback 
received from various beer suppliers and 
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COMPLAINTS ARISE 
RELATING TO APBS’S OUTLET-

EXCLUSIVITY PRACTICE

APBS PROVIDED VOLUNTARY 
COMMITMENTS TO CEASE 
THE OUTLET-EXCLUSIVITY 

CONDITIONS AND IS REQUIRED 
TO PROVIDE CCS WITH PROOF 
OF IMPLEMENTED CHANGES

CCS CEASED ITS 
INVESTIGATION BUT 

CONTINUES TO MONITOR 
MARKET PRACTICES

POTENTIALLY LIMITS 
COMPETITION FROM 

OTHER SUPPLIERS

CASE OVERVIEW

retailers indicated to CCS that the lack of 
outlet exclusivity would be a welcome 
development for the industry.

The voluntary commitment by APBS to 
cease the outlet-exclusivity conditions in 
its supply of draught beer contracts to 
retailers will be applicable to all draught 
beer contracts entered into with retailers 
on and after 28 December 2015, including 

Like retailers, consumers welcomed the prospect of more 
choices. “Maybe if I come across another beer brand, I can 
try it. At least I have the option,” said Ms Valerie Toh, 28, 
an office manager (as quoted in The Straits Times article 
‘APB to stop supplying beer to retailers on exclusive basis’ 
on 29 October 2015).

new and renewal contracts. APBS also 
provided CCS with documents to prove 
that these changes have taken effect.

Based on the commitment, CCS ceased 
its investigation but will continue to 
closely monitor market practices and will 
investigate any breach of the commitment 
or any other anti-competitive practices 
by APBS. 

Source: The Straits Times (29 October 2015) © Singapore Press Holdings Limited. Permission 
required for reproduction
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13 FRESH CHICKEN 
DISTRIBUTORS ALLEGEDLY 
ENGAGED IN PRICE FIXING 
AND MARKET SHARING 
PRACTICES

FOOD & BEVERAGE | INVESTIGATION

Case Team Members:
Kho Qin Yao
Kong Weng Loong
Yeo Hui Chuan
Jaime Pang
Justina Sim
Harikumar Pillay
Lee Cheow Han

13  f r e sh  ch icken  d is t r ibu tor s 
(collectively known as the “Parties”), 
who are in the business of trading in 
or distributing fresh chicken products, 
had allegedly coordinated the amount 
and timing of price increases. They had 
also allegedly agreed not to compete 
for each other’s customers in the 
market for the supply of fresh chicken 
products in Singapore. 

Together, the Parties supply more than 
90% of the fresh chicken products in 
Singapore and their annual turnover 
amounts to approximately half a billion 
dollars annually.

In late 2014, CCS commenced its 
investigations into the fresh chicken 
distribution industry after it received a 
complaint on the alleged anti-competitive 
conduct. It was revealed through the 
investigations that the Parties had met 
to discuss prices from at least 2007 to 
2014, and expressly coordinated the price 
increases of fresh chicken products sold 
in Singapore. During these meetings, 
they had also agreed not to compete for 
each other’s customers.

It was revealed through 
the investigations that 
the Parties had met to 
discuss prices from at 
least 2007 to 2014, and 
expressly coordinated 
the price increases of 
fresh chicken products 
sold in Singapore.
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List of Parties:

1. Gold Chic Poultry Supply 
Pte Ltd;

2. Hua Kun Food Industry 
Pte Ltd;

3. Hock Chuan Heng Farm 
and its sole-proprietor, Hy-
fresh Industries (S) Pte Ltd;

4. Kee Song Brothers Poultry 
Industries Pte Ltd;

5. Lee Say Poultry Industrial 
and its sole-proprietor, Lee 
Say Group Pte Ltd;

6. H u p  H e n g  P o u l t r y 
Industries Pte Ltd;

7. KSB Distribution Pte Ltd;

8. Prestige Fortune (S) Pte 
Ltd;

9. Ng Ai Muslim Poultry 
Industries Pte Ltd;

10. Sinmah Poultry Processing 
(S) Pte Ltd;

11. Toh Thye San Farm;

12. To n g  H u a t  P o u l t r y 
Processing Factory Pte 
Ltd; and 

13. Ban Hong Poultry Pte Ltd

These actions by the Parties were 
aimed at distorting the prices of fresh 
chicken products in Singapore. By 
agreeing not to compete for each 
other’s customers, and coordinating 
the price increases, the Par ties 
restricted the choices available to 
customers and provided few options 
for them to switch distributors.

On 8 March 2016, CCS issued a 
written notice to the Parties, setting 
out the facts on which CCS made 
i ts assessment ,  along with the 
reasons for the proposed decision. 
CCS will make its f inal decision, 
after considering representations 
from the Parties, as well as available 
information and evidence. 

UNDER THE COMPETITION ACT, BUSINESSES SHOULD INDEPENDENTLY DETERMINE THEIR 

RESPONSES TO COMPETITION AND NOT ENTER INTO ANY AGREEMENT OR ARRANGEMENT THAT 

PREVENTS, RESTRICTS OR DISTORTS COMPETITION.

PARTIES SUPPLY MORE THAN 90% 
OF THE FRESH CHICKEN PRODUCTS 

IN SINGAPORE

ANNUAL TURNOVER OF APPROXIMATELY HALF A 
BILLION DOLLARS ANNUALLY

Source: The Straits Times (9 March 2016) © Singapore Press Holdings Limited. Permission required 
for reproduction
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BLOCK EXEMPTION ORDER 
FOR LINER SHIPPING 
AGREEMENTS EXTENDED 
TILL 2020

GOVERNMENT ADVOCACY | 
BLOCK EXEMPTION ORDER

Case Team Members: 
Tan Hi Lin
Nimisha Tailor
Kong Weng Loong
Cindy Chang
Jaime Pang
Joanne Yong
Lee Jwee Nguan

The Minister for Trade and Industry 
(Trade) (the “Minister”) has extended 
the Competition (Block Exemption for 
Liner Shipping Agreements) Order 
(“BEO”) for another five years until 31 
December 2020. 

The BEO, first issued in July 2006, 
exempts a category of liner shipping 
agreements (“LSAs”) from the prohibition 
against anti-competitive agreements 
under section 34 of the Competition 
Act, provided certain conditions and 
obligations are fulfilled. 

In the public consultation held from 25 
May to 15 June 2015, CCS received five 
submissions, out of which four were 
supportive of the proposed extension.
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CCS considered the changes in the 
international regulatory environment 
in its review and noted that antitrust 
exemptions for LSAs generally remain 
the regulatory norm worldwide. CCS 
also took into consideration factors such 
as the size of the Singapore economy, 
Singapore’s status of not being a 
major port of origin or destination, 
and that a very large proportion of 
Singapore’s container cargo throughput 
involves transhipment.

CCS also assessed that LSAs, which 
fulfilled the requirements set out in 
the BEO, continued to meet the net 
economic benefit criteria and qualified 
for exemption from the prohibition 
against anti-competitive agreements. 

THE CONNECTIVITY OF LINER SHIPPING SERVICES AVAILABLE IN SINGAPORE GENERATES CONSIDERABLE 

BENEFITS FOR SINGAPORE, INCLUDING PROVIDING A HIGHER DEGREE OF CONNECTIVITY AND CHOICE 

FOR SINGAPORE’S IMPORTERS AND EXPORTERS. AGREEMENTS BETWEEN LINERS TO SHARE VESSEL 

SPACE INCREASE THE UTILISATION OF SPACE, ENABLE MORE FREQUENT SERVICES, AND MAY ENHANCE 

COMPETITION WITH LARGER LINERS.

CC S considered the 
changes in the international 
regulatory environment in 
its review and noted that 
antitrust exemptions for 
LSAs generally remain 
the regulator y norm 
worldwide.
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COMMUNITY OF 
PRACTICE FOR 
COMPETITION 
& ECONOMIC 
REGULATORS

GOVERNMENT ADVOCACY | COPCOMER

In advocating for pro-competition 
regulations to effectively balance policy 
objectives and competition that benefit 
both businesses and consumers, CCS 
proactively engages government agencies 
to help them understand competition 
issues and give due consideration 
to competition issues arising from 
government policies. Established in 
December 2013, the Community of Practice 
for Competition and Economic Regulations 
(“COPCOMER”) is an inter-agency platform 
for CCS, sectoral competition regulators 
and a few other government agencies to 
share best practices and experiences 
on competition and regulatory matters. 
Through this exchange, COPCOMER seeks 
to encourage the adoption of effective 
regulatory and competition policies based 
on local experiences and international 
best practices. In FY 2015, CCS organised 
the following COPCOMER events: 

COPCOMER REGULATORS TEA 2016

42 high-level COPCOMER representatives 
attended the COPCOMER Regulators Tea 

2016 held at the Ministry of National 
Development (“MND”) on 25 January 
2016. Ms Nimisha Tailor, Deputy Director, 
Policy and Markets Division of CCS, 
moderated the Q&A panel session. The 
discussion revolved around the topic 
of the Sharing Economy. COPCOMER 
agencies were encouraged to consider 
their approach to regulation on the rise of 
sharing technologies, so as to maximise 
the opportunities brought about by 
such technologies while mitigating the 
inherent risks. 

COPCOMER SEMINARS

Two COPCOMER Seminars were organised 
in 2015 and held in June and November 
respectively. Attended by more than 
100 public officers, they were a unique 
learning and sharing opportunity. 

In June, CCS presented its preliminary 
observations on competition dynamics in 
the retail petrol market and the analysis 
of price movements at the seminar. This 
followed CCS’s formal inquiry into the 
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Through the sharing at the inter-agency platform, 
COPCOMER seeks to encourage the adoption of 
effective regulatory and competition policies 
based on local experiences and international 
best practices.

retail petrol market. Participants provided 
astute observations on competition in the 
retail market. The Infocomm Development 
Authority of Singapore (“IDA”) also presented 
its spectrum allocation framework for 
mobile services. This spurred a lively 
discussion into the reasons for and against 
facilitating the entry of new players into 
mature mobile markets, as well as the 
possible approaches that could be taken 
by a regulator. 

CCS and the Ministry of Transport (“MOT”) 
co-organised the seminar in November. 
MOT shared its experience with the 
transition to the bus contracting model 
for public bus services in Singapore. The 
pros and cons of adopting such a model 
vis-à-vis other models for the public 
bus industry were also shared with the 
participants. CCS presented key findings 
from its research paper on e-commerce. 
The paper helped shed light on specific 
competition issues that e-commerce 
activities can give rise to, as well as the 
implications for competition policy and 
law in Singapore. 

COPCOMER TECHNICAL WORKSHOPS 

A series of Technical Exchange Workshops, 
designed to train officers from COPCOMER 
agencies on competition assessment, were 
rolled out in FY 2015. The workshops 
aimed to provide a holistic overview of the 
approaches used, as well as the challenges 
faced by CCS and different sector 
regulators when conducting competition 
investigations and assessments. 

The first Technical Exchange Workshop was 
held on 4 August 2015. It featured techniques 
used to identify relevant markets, market 
power, and market dominance. The 
second session, which focused on merger 
assessment, was held on 18 January 2016. 
Consisting of introduction lectures, small 
group discussions on case studies, and open 
dialogues, the workshops were positively 
received by COPCOMER agencies. 
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In November 2015, the Infocomm 
Development Authority of Singapore 
(“IDA”) consulted CCS on the competition 
impact of publishing a list of prices of 
commonly used items/materials for the 
installation of in-building infrastructure 
(“price list”). The price list was prepared 
by IDA based on historical pricing and 
served as a guide for Building Owners 
(“BOs”) and Management Corporations 
to estimate the likely costs of works 
to be carried out under the Fibre 
Ready Scheme (“FRS”). The FRS is 
an IDA programme to help owners 
of non-residential buildings enhance 
their buildings’ telecommunication 
infrastructure, and thereby speed up 
fibre broadband provisioning to all the 
occupants in the buildings. 

CCS advised that, unless certain safeguards 
are put in place, the publication of the 
price list may give rise to competition 
concerns, including a risk that the price 
list will create a focal point for pricing 
of such installation and may give rise to 
price convergence amongst contracting 
companies (“contractors”) providing such 
services. CCS worked closely with IDA 
in order to address these concerns. IDA 
implemented a number of safeguards 
proposed by the CCS, including ensuring 
that the price list is based on historical, 
actual transacted pricing collected 
confidentially and individually from BOs. 
The price list also reports the 50th and 90th 
percentile unit rate to address concerns 
about price convergence around the 
published rates in the price list. 

CCS worked closely with various Ministries and statutory boards to gain a better 
understanding of the markets they regulate, and to provide advice on competition 
issues covering a wide range of activities within these markets. In FY 2015, CCS 
issued a total of 28 competition advisories to other public sector agencies.

In 2015, the Monetary Authority of 
Singapore (“MAS”) consulted CCS on 
policy proposals in relation to several 
operational aspects of the Balanced 
Scorecard (“BSC”) Framework. The 
BSC framework, which came into legal 
effect on 1 January 2016, is an initiative 
introduced by MAS under the Financial 
Advisory Industry Review (“FAIR”) which 
seeks to align the interests of financial 
advisory representatives and supervisors 
with those of their customers so as to 
promote a culture of fair dealing. This is 

also part of CCS’s continuous engagement 
with MAS in relation to the FAIR initiatives 
since April 2014. Taking into consideration 
the characteristics of the Financial 
Advisory industry and the objectives 
of the BSC Framework, CCS undertook 
a competition impact assessment that 
considered how each proposal would 
affect competition in the market. CCS 
provided several recommendations to 
MAS regarding the BSC Framework 
to maintain and enhance competitive 
conduct in the market. 

Case Team Members:
Stephanie Panayi
Kong Weng Loong
Poh Lip Hang
Ng Ee Kia

Case Team Members:
Winnie Ching
Justina Sim
Jaime Pang

CCS COMPETITION ADVISORIES 

GOVERNMENT ADVOCACY | COMPETITION ADVICE

ADVICE TO MAS ON BALANCED SCORECARD FRAMEWORK 

ADVICE TO IDA ON PUBLICATION OF PRICE LIST GUIDELINES FOR FIBRE 
READY SCHEME
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• Competition principles: help public 
officers understand the benefits 
of competition whilst highlighting 
the “costs” of compromising  
market competition. 

• Government participation in 
markets: discuss how common types 
of government participation in markets 
may affect the competition process. It 
will also help public officers understand 
how proposed policies or regulatory 
initiatives may distort competition. 
This in turn motivates them to conduct 
competition impact assessments of 
their proposed policies or initiatives. The 
following common types of government 
participation in markets and their potential 
impact on competition are covered: 

a) government as a seller or supplier;
b) public procurement;
c) government regulation;
d) government influence; and
e) taxes and subsidies.

• Case studies from local and/ or 
overseas policy making contexts: 
i l l u s t r a t e  h o w  c o m p e t i t i o n 
considerations have helped to 
shape policies or initiatives, and 
in some cases, improve outcomes. 
Other cases il lustrate how a 
failure to consider the impact on 
competition led to unintended 
consequences which undermined 
policy or regulatory intent.

• Summary of the Competition Act, 
CCS’s role, and avenues to obtaining 
advice from CCS: help public officers 
gain a general understanding of the 
Competition Act, CCS’s government 
advisory process and what it entails, 
and CCS’s information requirements 
for assessments. Through this, 
public officers are able to better 
understand CCS’s advisory process, 
and thus more easily prepare the 
types of information required by CCS 
to conduct a thorough assessment. 

To help government agencies understand the potential impact of their policies and activities 
on market competition, CCS published a set of Competition Impact Assessment Guidelines 
for Government Agencies (the “Guidelines”) in 2008. Since then, CCS has dealt with a 
variety of issues through government advisories and competition law enforcement cases. 

In 2015, CCS carried out a review to ensure that the Guidelines are kept updated and relevant 
to real applications in local and overseas contexts. As part of the review, CCS sought the 
perspectives of over 20 government agencies on existing Guidelines and how such a 
competition toolkit would be used in their work. CCS also reviewed international practices 
and materials issued by overseas jurisdictions to identify possible areas for improvement. 

Following the review, CCS has developed a competition toolkit (“Toolkit”) for government 
agencies to help public officers better understand competition concepts and the Competition 
Act in Singapore, as well as to provide materials for public officers to self-assess whether 
their proposed policies and initiatives are likely to raise competition concerns. 

COMPETITION TOOLKIT FOR 
GOVERNMENT AGENCIES 

MAJOR FEATURES OF THE TOOLKIT

The Toolkit replaces the Guidelines. The content from the Guidelines is updated and 
included as part of the Toolkit. Additionally, the Toolkit covers the following new content: 
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SPECIAL FEATURE

ICN CONFERENCE 2016

A CONFLUENCE 
OF MINDS IN 

SINGAPORE AT THE 

WHAT IS THE ICN?

The International Competition Network (“ICN”) started in 
2001, with an aim to create more effective enforcement 
of antitrust law in view of globalisation. It also serves 
as a forum for exchanging information and experiences 
on best practices, tools and methods in the context of 
competition policy and law. This is also the only international 
organisation dedicated exclusively to competition law 
enforcement, with members representing national and 
multinational competition authorities. Members produce 
work products through involvement in flexible project-
oriented and results-based working groups:

1. Cartel Working Group
2. Merger Working Group
3. Unilateral Conduct Working Group
4. Advocacy Working Group
5. Agency Effectiveness Working Group

Currently, the ICN comprises 132 member competition 
agencies from 120 jurisdictions. With an increasing number 
of investigations that involve cross-border effects and 
concurrent reviews by multiple agencies, the ICN helps 
to facilitate cooperation among its members.

THE 15TH ICN ANNUAL CONFERENCE

The ICN Annual Conference is a key forum for strategic 
discussions and networking among competition authorities 
from around the world. The 15th ICN Annual Conference was 
held from 26 to 29 April 2016 in Singapore at the Marina 
Bay Sands. As organiser for the event, CCS hosted more 
than 500 competition practitioners, experts and senior 
government officials from over 80 jurisdictions.ICN Annual Conference at Marina Bay Sands 

(27 – 29 April 2016)



This was also the first time that the Conference was held 
in Southeast Asia, where an exciting state of competition 
law developments had taken place over the last few years 
pursuant to competition policy and law being a pillar of 
the ASEAN Economic Community (“AEC”) 2015.

CONFERENCE HIGHLIGHTS

• Minister Lim Hng Kiang: Competition 
Policy and Law Promotes Closer Economic 
Integration within ASEAN

Minister for Trade and Industry (Trade), Mr Lim Hng 
Kiang said in his welcome address that building on the 
AEC blueprint 2015, ASEAN will further enhance and 
harmonise competition policies and laws in the region 
under AEC 2025. Even though there are differences in the 
implementation of competition policy and law among the 
ASEAN economies due to different stages of economic 
development, members agree that there is a need to 
have a consistent approach to reach out to relevant 
stakeholders. This is to ensure that competition policy 
and law is consistent and understood across the region. 

CCS will contribute towards the goal of alignment 
of competition policy and law in ASEAN by leading 

efforts to develop an ASEAN Competition Policy and 
Law (“CPL”) Programme. The CPL Programme will 
promote collaboration amongst competition agencies 
in ASEAN, and foster a culture of fair competition to 
create a level playing field for all businesses. Closer 
relationships between businesses, government agencies 
and competition authorities are the basis for greater 
convergence and harmonisation of competition policy 
and law regimes. This will reduce the transactional 
costs and uncertainty for businesses that operate 
across different jurisdictions.

• Special Plenary: Building Economic 
Communities with Competition Policy

The Conference kicked off with a special plenary on 
“Building Economic Communities with Competition 
Policy”. The speakers were Johannes Laitenberger, 
Director General, DG Competition of the European 
Commission and Ambassador Ong Keng Yong, Ministry 
of Foreign Affairs. In his presentation, Ambassador Ong 
said that ASEAN’s millennials are changing markets and 
consumption in ASEAN as they are better educated, 
have higher spending power and are technologically 
savvy. ASEAN millennials look for brands that resonate 
with them and welcome competition and choice.  

ASEAN ECONOMIC COMMUNITY (“AEC”)

The AEC aims to remove economic barriers to facilitate free flow of trade and investments in the region to pave the way for ASEAN 

to achieve its economic and development goals. It also strives to transform ASEAN into a competitive regional market with free flow 

of goods, services, investment, skilled labour and freer flow of capital. This allows ASEAN companies to extend their businesses 

beyond national boundaries to take advantage of aggregated demand within ASEAN.

Welcome Reception at the National Gallery (26 April 2016)



ASEAN policy makers should therefore seize the 
opportunity presented by the ASEAN Economic 
Community and develop and enforce competition policy 
which promotes lower costs, wider choice and improved 
quality in goods and services. 

• Government Advocacy and Disruptive 
Innovations

One of the key themes of the Conference was disruptive 
innovations. The advent of the internet and digital 
platforms has catalysed the growth of disruptive 
firms and their innovative offerings to businesses and 
consumers. More people are purchasing products and 
services online, putting pressure on traditional “brick 
and mortar” setups. For instance, the global average of 
online sales as a proportion of total retail sales in 2014 
was slightly under 6% and online sales in more mature 
e-commerce markets like China and the United States 
of America, account for 10% and 6.5% of the total retail 
sales respectively.

CCS, with the assistance of the ICN Advocacy Working 
Group and other ICN members, undertook a special project 
on government advocacy and disruptive innovations. A 
report discussing ICN members’ experiences and the 
challenges they faced when advocating considerations 
to governmental and legislative entities in their respective 
jurisdictions with regard to disruptive innovations were 
shared at the Conference. The report also suggests 
learning points for ICN members looking to engage in 
similar advocacy efforts. [Please refer to page 70 for 
more details on the special project.]

CCS Chairman, Mr Aubeck Kam, highlighted the 
challenges faced by regulators in the growth of disruptive 
firms and their innovative offerings to businesses and 
consumers, in his welcome remarks. He said that 
regulators face the dual challenge of regulating not only 
in the public interest but also to ensure that the business 
environment is not rendered unnecessarily restrictive. 
In this regard, competition authorities can play an 
important and constructive role, by advocating that 
competition is also an important policy goal and should 
not be ignored by industry regulators. For example, in 
respect of third-party taxi booking mobile applications in 
Singapore, CCS worked closely with the Land Transport 
Authority (“LTA”) to ensure that a balanced approach 
was taken towards embracing disruptive innovations 
and having the necessary regulations in place so that 
competition ultimately benefits commuters and the 
taxi industry as a whole. Social Tour to Singapore Botanic Gardens 

(29 April 2016)

Annual Conference Dinner at Gardens 
by the Bay (27 April 2016)



FEEDBACK FROM THE PARTICIPANTS

• Heads of Competition Agencies Meeting

On the sidelines of the Conference, an ASEAN, 
Australia and New Zealand Heads of Competition 
Agencies meeting was held on 27 April 2016. This 
was a significant meeting, since it was the very first 
one of such senior officials, responsible for competition 

from ASEAN, Australia and New Zealand – partners 
under the ASEAN-Australia-New Zealand Free Trade 
Agreement (“AANZFTA”). The meeting provided a good 
platform for senior representatives of the region’s 
competition agencies to network, exchange views and 
share experiences on the challenges being faced in 
developing and implementing competition law.

The ICN Annual Conference in Singapore surpassed prior conferences and was the perfect setting for 
meeting with colleagues in the competition community, sharing experience, and promoting international 
convergence and cooperation. The most useful programs, in my view, were the interactive breakout sessions, 
particularly those that used hypothetical case studies as a springboard for discussion. The gala dinner 
at the Flower Dome at Gardens by the Bay was as delicious as it was beautiful. The farewell reception at 
the Singapore Botanic Gardens was a nice opportunity to say goodbye to colleagues and appreciate the 
beauty of Singapore and its many gardens.

Cynthia Lagdameo, Counsel for International 
Antitrust, US Federal Trade Commission

The breakout sessions in Singapore provided superb opportunities for detailed and lively discussions, engaging 
with key topics. I would judge their success not by the audience size but rather by the quality of material 
covered, which was really excellent in those sessions I attended.

Sean Ennis, Senior Economist, 
Organisation for Economic Cooperation and Development

This annual meeting was professionally organised. All sessions and social events were carefully taken care of. I 
especially enjoyed the BOS on the special project. The discussions on advocacy strategies of competition agencies 
on disruptive innovations were especially important given that the new technologies of network economies and 
platforms are becoming relevant to all economies. Social events were well organised and gave the opportunity 
to rest and have an interesting informal exchange with practitioners and authorities.

Eduardo Pérez Motta, Partner of AGON Economics Law 
and Strategy, Mexico

I have gained a lot more understanding of competition law and policy from the ICN conference, particularly from 
the sharing of case studies at the plenary and breakout sessions. The plenary by the advocacy working group 
and the break-out session on technical assistance were very insightful, particularly for young agencies. The 
Gala Dinner was perfect and very well-organised. I would like to express my sincere thanks to the Competition 
Commission of Singapore (CCS) for the well-organised and insightful event.

Khouanchay Iemsouthi, Deputy Director General of Domestic Trade 
Department, Ministry of Industry and Commerce, Lao PDR



Wind Beneath 
Your  Wings
The market environment we operate in can often be dynamic and complex. One of the key 
challenges CCS faces is keeping pace with technological advancements and the disruptive 
changes they bring about in the market. Understanding these market changes allows CCS to 
remain a credible advocate to different stakeholders.

Like the wind beneath your wings, CCS will continue to develop and implement various engagement 
platforms with various stakeholder groups to guide and collaborate with them to ensure that 
the markets work well for both businesses and consumers.





CCS-ESS ESSAY 
COMPETITION 2016 

After a highly successful inaugural 
launch in 2014, CCS and the 
Economic Society of Singapore 
(“ESS”) kicked off another CCS-
ESS Essay Competition in January 
2016. The objective of the contest 
was to raise public awareness and 
encourage debate on competition 
policy and law issues in Singapore. 
Themed “Disruptive Innovation and 
Competition Policy: Friend or Foe”, 
the competition invited contestants 
to examine the relationship between 
the competition policy in Singapore 
and disruptive innovations – whether 
they complement or displace each 
other. Participants were also asked 
to discuss ideas on how competition 
policy can harness the benefits of 
these disruptive innovations along 
with the challenges they might bring.

The competition ran for four months 
and attracted a total of 71 entries 
from the Pre-university and Open 
Categories. The winners will be 
announced in September 2016 at 
the ESS Annual Dinner. 

A group of NUS Competition Law 
students with their lecturer, Dr 
Burton Ong, Associate Professor, 
Faculty of Law, visited CCS on 29 
March 2016. CCS Director of the 

OUTREACH: PUBLIC

CCS has continued its outreach 
to tertiary institutions to help 
students better understand CCS’s 
work. These outreach sessions 
were targeted at students pursuing 
business- and/ or economic- related 
degrees in the National University of 
Singapore (“NUS”) and the Singapore 
Management University (“SMU”). CCS 
also visited Junior Colleges (“JCs”) 

NUS LAW STUDENTS’ STUDY 
TRIP TO CCS

Legal & Enforcement Division, Mr 
Lee Jwee Nguan and Senior Director 
of the Policy and Markets Division, 
Ms Ng Ee Kia, hosted the event and 
answered numerous questions 
regarding the Competition Act in 
Singapore and the work being done 
at CCS. 

OUTREACH TO 
TERTIARY STUDENTS

such as Anderson JC, Yishun JC 
and Temasek JC to give talks on 
‘Competition Act in Singapore’ to the 
Economics students.

To ensure greater comprehension, 
economic theories were complemented 
 with case studies. These sessions 
helped students increase their 
understanding of Competition Policy 
and Law, as well as the role of CCS 
in ensuring a level playing field for 
businesses. 

1

2 3
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A National University of Singapore 
Faculty of Law (“NUS Law”) team 
has won the inaugural Herbert Smith 
Freehills Competition Law Moot 2015. 
The competition was held at King’s 
College London from 12 to 14 June 
2015. CCS was a corporate sponsor 
of the team. In addition, CCS assisted 
the students in preparing for the oral 
rounds of the competition.

Final-year law students Jeremiah Lau, 
Benjamin Wong and Lisa Tan beat 
teams from University of Helsinki, 
Maastricht University, University of 

2016 CALENDAR: MAKING 
MARKETS WORK WELL 

CCS produced a calendar for 2016, 
with the theme of “Making markets 
work well to create opportunities and 
choices for businesses and consumers 
in Singapore”. Incorporating CCS’s new 
mission as the calendar’s theme was 
intended to reflect CCS’s belief that 
competition will foster growth through 
innovation, and bring greater choices 
for both businesses and consumers. 
In addition to CCS’s new mission 
and vision, the core values, strategic 
thrusts and desired outcomes were 
also weaved into each calendar 
month’s feature page. 

NUS LAW STUDENTS EMERGED WINNERS AT INAUGURAL 
INTERNATIONAL MOOT COMPETITION 

Leeds, as well as the competition’s 
host university King’s College 
London, to reach the finals where 
they triumphed over the team from 
University of Amsterdam to clinch 
the title of champion. The team also 
impressed the international panel of 
judges, recording the highest score 
among all 12 teams at the end of the 
preliminary rounds. Lisa Tan also 
won the Best Oralist prize, achieving 
a perfect score, while Jeremiah Lau 
and Benjamin Wong were two out of 
four runners-up. 

4 5

= + + + +
CCS’S 
COMMITMENT 
TO PUBLIC 
OUTREACH ESSAY 

COMPETITION STUDY TRIPS TALKS MOOT COMPETITONS PRINT COLLATERALS
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OUTREACH: BUSINESS

The Ministry of Trade and Industry 
(“MTI”) organised an outreach session 
on 13 August 2015 on the ASEAN 
Economic Community (“AEC”) for 
various government agencies as well 
as the Singapore Business Federation. 
This was to increase awareness of 
the AEC and its associated benefits 
for Singapore businesses. At the 
session, CCS shared the impact of 
competition policy developments in 
ASEAN on Singapore businesses in 
the region, and the possible benefits 
of competition policy and law for 
businesses venturing into the region. 

OUTREACH SESSION ON ASEAN ECONOMIC COMMUNITY

CCS conducted an outreach session 
to 25 participants at the Lifelong 
Learning Institute on 22 October 2015. 
The participants, through various case 
studies, learnt about the three main 
prohibitions of Singapore Competition 
Act. There was also a presentation 
on the benefits of competition law 
compliance by Drew & Napier LLC. The 
session ended with a panel discussion 
on compliance programme and its 
benefits, as well as on debunking 
common misconceptions by CCS and 
Drew & Napier LLC. 

OUTREACH TO SINGAPORE ASSOCIATION OF THE INSTITUTE OF CHARTERED SECRETARIES  
AND ADMINISTRATORS

13 AUGUST 22 OCTOBER 5 NOVEMBER 2 DECEMBER

1

2

OUTREACH: BUSINESS 
EVENTS 2015

1 2 3 4

Outreach Session on ASEAN 
Economic Community

Outreach to SAICSA E-Commerce in Singapore Seminar

Outreach to ABS
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On 5 November 2015, CCS officers 
briefed members of the Association 
of Banks, including compliance 
personnel, product heads and 
other business personnel, on the 
competition law in Singapore. 
Personnel who attended the session 
were those involved in setting fees 
and other product features. Steps to 
avoid infringing competition law were 

Over 150 representatives from the 
business community, practitioners, 
consultants, and government 
agencies attended the seminar 
titled “E-Commerce in Singapore: 
Opportunities and Challenges in 
the e-playing field” on 2 December 
2015. This was organised by CCS, 
supported by IE Singapore and 
SPRING Singapore. CCS Chief 
Executive, Mr Toh Han Li, shared his 
perspective on how a ‘level e-playing 
field’ can help businesses tap on 
e-commerce for growth, and his 
hope that the e-commerce level field 
can be engendered within the ASEAN 
Economic Community,

DotEcon Ltd’s founder, Dr Christian 
Koboldt, shared the key findings of 
a research report commissioned 
by CCS earlier in 2015 on the 
development of e-commerce, the 
specific competition issues that 

E-COMMERCE IN SINGAPORE: OPPORTUNITIES AND CHALLENGES IN THE E-PLAYING FIELD

OUTREACH TO ASSOCIATION 
OF BANKS

e-commerce activities can give 
rise to, as well as the implications 
for competition policy and law in 
Singapore. Other speakers from 
public, private and legal sectors, 
as well as businesses in the industry, 
also shared valuable insights on how 
to ride the e-commerce wave and 
navigate the competition landscape 
in Singapore and in the region. 

discussed using industry-specific 
case examples. Participants found 
the session useful and relevant to 
their work. They also raised many 

pertinent questions during the panel 
session on LIBOR bid-rigging and 
credit card issues. 

3

4

$= + +
CCS’S 
COMMITMENT 
TO BUSINESS 
OUTREACH SESSIONS AND SEMINARS TARGETED AT

GOVERNMENT 
AGENCIES BUSINESSES
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OUTREACH: COMPETITION 
PRACTITIONERS

5TH ANNUAL ASIA-PACIFIC LAW LEADERS FORUM

CCS/ LAW SOCIETY – 
OUTREACH TO SMALL/
MEDIUM-SIZED LAW FIRMS

The Global Competition Review 
(“GCR”) held its 5th Annual Asia-
Pacific Law Leaders Forum on 3 to 
4 March 2016 in Singapore. Officials 
of competition authorities from 
the region as well as practitioners 
spoke at the panels, sharing their 

About 100 competition practitioners 
and small/medium-sized law 
firms attended this seminar held 
on 23 February 2016. The seminar 
provided an overview of the key 
prohibitions of the Competition 
Act and their application by 
CCS. Relevant issues were 
also discussed by experienced 
competition practitioners on areas 
such as dawn raids, applying for 
leniency, compliance programs and 
considerations when filing a merger 
with CCS. 

1

2

COMPETITION AUTHORITIES, 
PRACTITIONERS AND SMALL/MEDIUM-

SIZED LAW FIRMS

FORUMS AND 
SEMINARS

views on the future of competition 
law across the ASEAN countries. 
Speaking on a panel of ASEAN 
officials, CCS Chief Executive Mr 
Toh Han Li elaborated that some 
harmonisation of competition laws 
across countries in the region is 

likely to happen towards 2025. 
Before that, many ASEAN member 
states would need to focus on 
competition law enforcement and 
that included passing competition 
laws and implementing them 
effectively. 

CCS’S 
COMMITMENT 
TO COMPETITION 
PRACTITIONERS

=

TARGETED AT

+
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CCS IN NEWS 
& PUBLICATIONS

NEW COLLATERALS: MAKING MARKETS WORK WELL

CCS has revamped its collaterals 
to cater to the needs of different 
stakeholder groups – businesses, 
consumers and government agencies 

1

4

Key Prohibitions under the 
Competition Act Explained:
An informative and educational 
reference targeted to help 
businesses better understand 
the application of the key 
prohibitions in the Act such as 
anti-competitive agreements, 
abuse of dominance and anti-
competitive mergers. Notable 
cases that CCS has investigated 
and concluded are also included 
to provide more insight. 

3

Competition Act at a Glance:
An overview of the Competitive 
Act – key prohibitions, roles and 
responsibilities of CCS, scope 
of the Competition Act and the 
exclusions/exemptions. 

Competition Act and 
Government Agencies:
A guide for government 
agencies on developing pro-
competition policies. This 
includes the Competition Impact 
Assessment Checklist and the 
process for approaching CCS for 
advices on competition matters.

2

What You Can Do to Protect 
Your Business:
An informative and educational 
handbook for businesses, on 
adopting and maintaining an 
effective Competition Compliance 
Pro gr amme to  prote c t 
themselves. This also covers 
programmes such as CCS’s 
Leniency Programme, CCS’s 
Whistle-Blowing Programme, 
CCS’s Notification Scheme 
(Notification for Guidance & 
Notification for Decision) and 
making a Complaint to CCS.

– to help them better understand the 
Competition Act. The new collateral 
consists of four booklets: 

1 2

3

4
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CCS Chief Executive, Mr Toh Han Li 
expounds on several facets of the 
work being done by CCS, from the 
challenges being faced as a small 
jurisdiction, the merger review 
process, cooperation with the foreign 
competition authorities to CCS’s 
advocacy mandate.

THE ANTITRUST SOURCE:
Interview with Toh Han Li

Experienced in the role of being 
both the persecutor and the judge, 
CCS Chief Executive, Mr Toh Han 
Li elaborates on CCS’s outlook. 
Be it dealing with global cartels, 
the arguments on necessity for 
competition law in the region 
or the imminent changes in the 
horizon, CCS is primed and ready.

MLEX MARKET INSIGHTS:
Singapore antitrust regulator 
to focus on cartels, bid-rigging 
and SMEs, chief executive says

A guide for Small and Medium 
Enterprises (“SMEs”) on how an 
efficiently functioning market can be 
achieved with a level playing field. 
Valuable insights are also shared 
through the interviews of CCS Chief 
Executive, Mr Toh Han Li and Mr 
Adrian Sim, Founder and CEO, 6DM, 
which collectively provide SMEs with 
a greater understanding of anti-
competitive issues, how these may 
affect them and what they can do 
about such conduct. 

ASME’S ENTREPRENEURS’ DIGEST:
Competition Law: What’s in it
for you?

A paper which appraises the 
development of the outpatient 
haemodialysis market between 
December 2012 and June 2015, after 
the merger. This study, conducted by 
CCS’s post-evaluation study team, 
assesses entry and expansion, and 
whether the merger has led to any 
adverse effects on competition in 
the market.

POST-ACTION EVALUATION: 
CCS’s Merger Clearance in the 
Dialysis Market

This toolkit is a replacement of a set 
of Competition Impact Assessment 
Guidelines for Government Agencies 
published in 2008, presented as a 
step-by-step guide for competition 
authorities (“CA”) in ASEAN on 
advocating for Competition Policy 
Law (“CPL”). Containing successful 
case studies and advice, this toolkit 
endeavours to provide ASEAN Member 
States with practical guidance, tools 
and templates to develop and deliver 
advocacy activities. 

TOOLKIT FOR COMPETITION 
ADVOCACY IN ASEAN

Commissioned by CCS, this research 
paper by DotEcon Ltd presents the 
impact of e-commerce activities 
on businesses; and the specific 
competition issues that e-commerce 
activities can give rise to as well 
as the implications for competition 
policy and law in Singapore.

DOTECON: 
E-commerce and its impact  
on competition policy and law
in Singapore
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An article on CCS’s decade-long 
competition advocacy journey, 
highlighting the challenges faced 
– keeping up with, understanding 
and staying knowledgeable about 
technological advancements and the 
disruptive changes they bring about 
in the market, not just to ensure the 
strength of its analytical frameworks, 
but also to retain its credibility with 
different stakeholders.

CCS’S COMPETITION 
ADVOCACY JOURNEY
Antitrust Chronicle, Spring 
2016, Volume I

CCS celebrated a decade-long journey 
on 23 July 2015, with a dinner at 
the Regent Singapore. Current and 
former CCS members were joined 
by more than 180 key stakeholders, 
including government agencies, 
overseas competition authorities, 
practitioners, academia, current and 
former commission members, and 
CAB members, in commemorating this 
significant milestone. Guest-of-Honour 
Mr S Iswaran (then Second Minister 
for Trade and Industry) unveiled CCS’s 
new mission and vision with CCS 
Chairman, Mr Aubeck Kam and CCS 
Chief Executive, Mr Toh Han Li.

The CCS 10th Year Commemorative 
Book was produced and distributed to 
CCS stakeholders who attended this 
celebration. The book records CCS’s 
first decade of accomplishment and 
captures the various stages of CCS’s 
journey. Invitees, who were not able to 
attend the dinner, received this book 
in the mail.

CCS’s time capsule contained a variety 
of items, significant throughout 
CCS’s journey. The time capsule was 
sealed by CE, Chairman, and former 
Chairman, Mr Lam Chuan Leong 
during the Anniversary Dinner. 

CCS’S 10TH ANNIVERSARY 
DINNER, COMMEMORATIVE 
BOOK AND TIME CAPSULE
23 Jul 2015

A product of National University 
of Singapore (“NUS”) Centre for 
Law & Business (“CLB”) and CCS, 
this book titled “Cartels in Asia: 
Law & Practice”, was launched on 
7 May 2015. It examines current 
issues facing the competition 
law regimes in selected Asian 
countries, and provides insights 
into the policy challenges faced 
by their competition authorities in 
the enforcement of their national 
anti-cartel laws.

NUS CENTRE FOR LAW & 
BUSINESS BOOK LAUNCH
Cartels in Asia: Law & Practice 
7 May 2015

A comprehensive publication, 
covering an overview of competition 
law in Singapore and CCS as 
Singapore celebrates 50 years of 
independence. 

PaRR:
SG50 Competition Law 
Developments in Singapore CCS Chief Executive, Mr Toh Han Li 

provides updates on CCS’s work along 
with its greatest successes in the year 
2015, its focus on e-commerce and 
the important decisions being taken, 
as its role as the enforcer continues 
to mature. 

THE GCR NEWS: 
An Interview with Toh Han Li
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Reaching above 
The Horizon



The open and global nature of Singapore’s economy means that Singapore is inextricably tied to 
developments in the regional and global economy. Against this backdrop, CCS actively participates 
in and contributes to both regional and international events in the area of competition policy 
and law. Reaching above the horizon, CCS continues to forge ties and cooperate with overseas 
competition authorities to foster a culture of fair competition and compliance. Such cooperation 
aims to also minimise cross-border anti-competitive practices that adversely affect domestic 
as well as international trade and hinder economic development.



INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS 
AND COOPERATION

15 – 17 APRIL 2015

CCS Chief Executive, Mr Toh Han 
Li, was a panellist on the session 
“Antitrust investigations around the 
world: What process is due?” at the 
American Bar Association (“ABA”) 
Section of Antitrust Law’s 63rd Annual 
Spring Meeting in Washington DC. 

1

The 5th ASEAN Competition 
Conference was held in Ho Chi 
Minh City, Vietnam from 4 to 5 June 
2015. The theme of the conference 
was “Advancing Competition Policy 
and Law Post-2015: Progress, 
Opportunities and Challenges”. 
Officials of competition authorities 
and agencies from ASEAN, as well as 
competition experts from within and 
outside the region discussed emerging 
issues and challenges in the context 
of the future ASEAN competition 
landscape. Over 100 participants, 
including representatives from the 
academia and business community, 
also attended. 

5TH ASEAN COMPETITION 
CONFERENCE

2

15 - 17 APRIL 
2015

4 - 5 JUNE 
2015

INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS AND 
COOPERATION SEQUENCE OF EVENTS

1 2

Antitrust Law’s 63rd Annual Spring 
Meeting in Washington DC

5th ASEAN Competition 
Conference in Vietnam

64
REACHING ABOVE THE HORIZON

CCS ANNUAL REPORT 2015-2016



RCEP Working Group on Competition  
at the 8th RCEP meeting in 
Kyoto, Japan 

8 – 12 JUNE 2015

4

3 - 7 AUGUST 
2015

12 – 16 OCTOBER 
2015

8 - 12 JUNE 
2015

4 53

RCEP Working Group on 
Competition at the 8th RCEP 
meeting in Japan

RCEP Working Group on 
Competition at the 9th RCEP 
meeting in Myanmar

RCEP Working Group on 
Competition at the 10th RCEP 
meeting in South Korea

In  2014/2015,  CCS chaired 
negotiations for the Working 
Group on Competition under the 
Regional Comprehensive Economic 
Partnership (“RCEP”). RCEP is a 
mega trade agreement involving the 
10 ASEAN member states, as well 
as Australia, China, India, Japan, 
New Zealand and South Korea. This 
accounts for a collective market 

CHAIR FOR THE WORKING GROUP ON COMPETITION FOR RCEP

of more than three billion people 
and a combined GDP of about  
US$20 trillion.

Four rounds of negotiations were 
held in Japan, Myanmar, South 
Korea, and Singapore in June 
2015, August 2015, October 2015, 
and February 2016 respectively. 
Good progress was made on the 

negotiations as parties achieved 
broad consensus on various articles 
in the competition chapter relating 
to basic principles, measures to 
address anti-competitive activities, 
and cooperation, among others. 
CCS will continue to lead the 
negotiations to realise positive and 
mutually-beneficial outcomes for 
all parties. 

RCEP Working Group on Competition  
at the 10th RCEP meeting in Busan, 
South Korea

12 – 16 OCTOBER 2015

RCEP Working Group on Competition 
at the 9th RCEP meeting in Nay Pyi 
Daw, Myanmar

3 – 7 AUGUST 2015

3

5
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7

The 11th East Asia Top Level 
Officials’ Meeting (“EATOP”) was 
held on 25 October 2015 in Ho 
Chi Minh City, Vietnam, alongside 
the 9th East Asia Conference on 
Competition Law and Policy on 26 
October 2015. CCS Chief Executive, 
Mr Toh Han Li, shared CCS’s recent 
case developments, outreach 
initiatives and unveiled CCS’s new 
Vision and Mission statements. 
He also facilitated a session on 

11TH EATOP AND THE 9TH 
EAST ASIA CONFERENCE ON 
COMPETITION LAW AND POLICY

24 - 26 JUNE 
2015

25 OCTOBER 
2015

6 7

CCS-OECD/KPC Leaders Seminar on Advocacy
11th East Asia Top Level 
Officials’ Meeting

From 24 to 26 June 2015, CCS 
partnered the OECD-Korea Policy 
Centre (“KPC”) to hold the “Leaders 
Seminar on Advocacy” in Singapore. 
After 2008, this was the second time 
CCS and OECD/KPC embarked on 
a partnership. The objective of the 
seminar was to help authorities 
from the Asia Pacific region equip 
themselves with the experience and 
tools for advancing the acceptance 
and promotion of competition policy 
to several groups of stakeholders in 
their own economies.

The Seminar attracted about 
50 local and foreign speakers  
and participants. 

CCS-OECD/KPC LEADERS 
SEMINAR ON ADVOCACY

6

the “Independence of Competition 
Authority and its Impact on Effective 
Enforcement of Competition Policy 
and Law”. Another speaker from 
CCS was Ms Serene Seet, Senior 

Assistant Director of the Legal 
Division, who expanded on the 
strategies through which CCS 
fostered a culture of competition 
compliance in Singapore. 

INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS AND 
COOPERATION SEQUENCE OF EVENTS
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Singapore-United States 3rd Country 
Training Programme on Competition, 
Investment and Transparency. 

30 NOVEMBER –  
4 DECEMBER 2015

The 14th OECD Global Forum on 
Competition was held in Paris 
from 29 to 30 October 2015. 
CCS submitted four papers and 
presented them at three sessions 
during the Global Forum. CCS Chief 
Executive, Mr Toh Han Li, was a 
panellist for the session “The 
impact of disruptive innovations 
on competition law enforcement” 
and shared CCS’s experiences in the 
cases involving online recruitment 
advertising services and third party 
taxi booking applications. During the 
session titled “Does competition kill 
or create jobs”, Senior Director of 
the Policy and Markets Division, Ms 
Ng Ee Kia introduced Singapore’s 
job credit scheme to the forum 
as one government tool to help 
employees and employers tide 
over the period when companies 
undergo restructuring. 

OECD GLOBAL FORUM ON 
COMPETITION 2015

8

9

30 NOVEMBER 
 - 4 DECEMBER 2015

29 - 30 OCTOBER 
2015

98

14th OECD Global Forum on 
Competition in Paris

Singapore-United States 3rd Country 
Training Programme on Competition, 
Investment and Transparency
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10

The ASEAN Economic Ministers 
endorsed the establishment of the 
ASEAN Experts Group on Competition 
(“AEGC”) in August 2007 as a platform 
to look into CPL issues in ASEAN. The 
AEGC oversees cooperation activities 
relating to competition policy and law 
in ASEAN as well as implementation 
of deliverables under the AEC 
Blueprint. The AEGC is an official body 
comprising representatives from the 
competition authorities and agencies 
responsible for competition policy 
and law in the AMSs. CCS represents 
Singapore at the AEGC and has been 
an active contributor to the various 
initiatives and activities at the AEGC.

CCS participated in the 16th and 
17th Meetings of the AEGC from 30 
November to 2 December 2015 in 
Siem Reap, Cambodia and from 22 to 
24 March 2016 in Vientiane, Lao PDR 
respectively. The Meeting discussed 
the ASEAN Competition Action 

MEETINGS OF THE AEGC 

30 NOVEMBER - 
2 DECEMBER 2015

26 - 27 FEBRUARY 
2016

16th Meeting of AEGC in 
Cambodia

APEC’s CPLG Meeting in Peru

Plan 2025 and key performance 
indicators, as well as the AEGC’s 
work programme and deliverables.

Two AEGC Working Group Meetings 
on Regional Advocacy and Website 
were held back-to-back from 25 
to 27 January 2016 in Jakarta, 
Indonesia, both chaired by CCS. 
CCS led discussions on the Toolkit 
on Regional Advocacy to guide 

ASEAN Member States in conducting 
competition advocacy initiatives. 
The Meeting also reviewed and 
endorsed the enhancements to 
the AEGC web portal (http://www.
asean-competition.org/) to improve 
its usability and interface. Both the 
completed toolkit and revamped 
web portal were launched at the ICN 
Annual Conference in Singapore in 
April 2016. 

INTERNATIONAL RELATIONS AND 
COOPERATION SEQUENCE OF EVENTS

10 11
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From 26 to 27 February 2016, The 
Asia-Pacific Economic Cooperation’s 
(“APEC”) Competition Policy and Law 
Group (“CPLG”) meeting for 2016 
was held in Lima, Peru. Amongst 
the issues discussed were the CPLG 
2016 work plan, the CPLG database, 
and selected key developments in 

APEC’S COMPETITION POLICY 
AND LAW GROUP MEETING 2016

Sorbonne-Assas International Law 
School, together with Concurrences 
Review and ESSEC Business School - 
Singapore, organised a second edition 
of the Antitrust in Asia Conference titled 
“Anti-trust in Asia: One size fits all? 
ASEAN, China, Hong-Kong, India...” on 
25 April 2016. The conference explored 
opportunities and challenges relating to 

ANTITRUST IN ASIA CONFERENCE 2016 

Visit to the Canadian Competition 
Bureau. 

28 MARCH 2016

22 - 24 MARCH 
2016

25 APRIL 
2016

28 MARCH 
2016

17th Meeting of AEGC in Lao PDR
Canadian Competition Bureau visit

APEC economies. At the meeting, CCS 
presented on the topic of “Disruptive 
Innovation and its implication for 
enforcement of competition law –
The Singapore Experience”. Guest 
presentations were also made by 
World Bank and OECD to share their 
experiences on their assistance to 
countries in enhancing competition 
law enforcement and advocacy to aid 
the market reform process. 

implementation of antitrust laws in Asian 
countries and discussed emerging topics 
with some of the most prominent local 
and international antitrust academics, 
enforcers and practitioners.

CCS Chairman, Mr Aubeck Kam, in 
his keynote speech, said that the 
landscape in Asia will continue to be 

characterised by considerable diversity 
but there exist sufficient areas where 
the challenges are faced in common. 
He added, “it is in areas such as public 
advocacy and evolving regulatory 
responses to new technologies, that 
are likely to see a more consistent Asian  
approach emerge”.

At the same event, CCS Chief Executive, 
Mr Toh Han Li, took part in a panel 
discussion on “Leniency, Transparency 
and Procedural Rules in Competition 
Law Enforcement in Asia: Is there a 
need for Convergence?” 

11 12

13

10 12 13

Anti-trust in Asia Conference 
in Singapore

Photo Credit: © Concurrences
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SPECIAL FEATURE

DISRUPTIVE 
INNOVATION:

SPECIAL PROJECT 
REPORT



Disruptive innovations are new products, services, 
manufacturing processes, and/ or business models 
that drastically alter existing markets. They pose unique 
challenges to competition authorities – on one hand, they 
tend to spur greater static and dynamic competition in 
markets, but on the other they may raise public concerns 
in areas such as employment, consumer protection, 
safety, and health. Because of their novelty, they may 
not be sufficiently regulated by existing regulations. As 
such, Governmental and Legislative Entities (“GLEs”) 
may face pressure from businesses and consumers to 
regulate, or even ban them altogether. There may also 
be instances where disruptive firms begin operations 
without complying with existing regulations, causing 
GLEs to react by enforcing existing regulations.

To explore the implications of disruptive innovations, and 
in conjunction with the ICN 2016 Annual Conference, CCS 
undertook a special project on “Government Advocacy and 
Disruptive Innovations”. Survey responses from 44 ICN 
member agencies (“Responding Members”) were collected 
and analysed. The findings highlighted a key concern 
of Responding Members – that regulatory response to 
disruptive innovations in their respective economies 
could prevent disruptive firms from entering the market, 
hinder their ability to compete with market incumbents, 
and consequently limit market developments. 

The findings highlighted a key 
concern of Responding Members 
– that regulatory response to 
disruptive innovations in their 
respective economies could 
prevent disruptive firms from 
entering the market, hinder their 
ability to compete with market 
incumbents, and consequently 
limit market developments.



Case studies were also contributed by 14 Responding 
Members which documented their approach to advocating 
for GLEs to take into consideration competition issues 
when proposing regulations for disruptive innovations. 
These covered a range of sectors, such as transport, 
media, real estate brokerage services, energy, financial, 
and payment services. 

The special project report also discussed the challenges 
faced by Responding Members when engaging in 
disruptive innovation-related government advocacy, 
and offered learning points for ICN members looking 
to engage in similar efforts. 

First, GLEs may not regularly consider or assess 
the impact of their proposed policies on market 
competition. Responding Members have mitigated 
this by proactively explaining the importance of 
competition to GLEs, encouraging them to consider 
competition issue throughout the policymaking 

process. Institutional safeguards were also 
suggested as a way to ensure GLEs consider  
competition assessment. 

Second, Responding Members noted a lack of data and 
extensive study on disruptive innovations. Recognising 
the importance of empirical assessment and evidence 
in supporting advocacy efforts, Responding Members 
planned and collected information in advance – at times 
together with GLEs – and then utilised this information 
as part of enforcement case work and market studies. 

Third, GLEs and competition agencies are often 
under political pressure, particularly as disruptive 
innovation is an area that is susceptible to defensive 
behaviour and aggressive lobbying by incumbents. 
Responding Members have attempted to overcome this 
by focusing advocacy efforts on key decision makers, 
as well as reminding them to be “competition-minded” 
when designing policies. 

Ms Ng Ee Kia, Senior Director of the Policy and Markets Division in CCS, was the moderator of the plenary session at the presentation of the special project report.



Further learning points on the “What”, “How”, and “When” 
of disruptive innovation-related government advocacy 
were also discussed in the special project report. 

Key findings from the special project report were 
presented at the ICN 2016 Annual Conference in Singapore. 
Following the presentation, heads of competition 
authorities, private competition law practitioners, 
as well as representatives from the Organisation for 
Economic Cooperation and Development (“OECD”) 
discussed the crucial role competition authorities 
play in advocating for regulators to strike a balance 
between pursuing public policy objectives and promoting 
a pro-competition regulatory environment that enables 
disruptive innovations. This reaffirmed the importance 
of a competition authority’s competition advocacy role 
and also broadened participating members’ perspectives 
on disruptive innovation. 

The other members on the plenary session included – Mr Andreas Mundt, President of the Bundeskartellamt, Germany, and ICN Steering Group Chair; 
Ms Edith Ramirez, Chairwoman, US Federal Trade Commission; Ms Gabriella Muscolo, Commissioner, Italian Competition Authority; and Ms Alejandra 
Palacios Prieto, Chairwoman, Mexican Federal Economic Competition Commission



STATUS AS AT 31 MARCH 2016 START/END DATES

3rd ICAO Air Transport Symposium - Addressing Competition Issues: Towards a 
Better Operating Environment, Montreal, Canada (Business)

30 - 31 March 2016

ICN Agency Effectiveness Workshop (AEWG), Gabarone, Botswana 10 - 11 March 2016

11th International Cartel Workshop, Tokyo, Japan 3 - 5 February 2016

OECD/KPC Workshop on Merger Remedies, Jeju, Korea 2 - 4 December 2015

Asian Competition Forum's 11th Annual Conference, Hong Kong (Business)
30 November -  

1 December 2015

Economics Institute for Competition Enforcement Officials, Hawaii, USA 15 - 20 November 2015

4th BRICS international Competition Conference, Durban, South Africa (Business) 12 - 13 November 2015

9th Annual Competition Law, Economics and Policy Conference 2015, Durban, 
South Africa

11 November 2015

GCR Live 7th Annual Brussels: The conference about the bigger picture, Brussels, 
Belgium (Business)

9 - 10 November 2015

AEGC Workshop on Best Practices on a Regional Cooperation Framework in 
ASEAN, Manila, Philippines

3 - 5 November 2015

OECD 14th Global Forum on Competition, Paris, France (Business) 29 - 30 October 2015

2015 International Competition Network (ICN) Cartel Workshop, Cartagena, 
Colombia

19 - 21 October 2015

42nd Annual Conference on International Antitrust Law and Policy, New York, USA 1 - 2 October 2015

2015 ICN Merger Workshop, Brussels, Belgium (Business) 24 September 2015

2015 Conference "Advances in the Analysis of Competition Policy and Regulation", 
Crete, Greece (Business)

3 - 5 July 2015

World Bank Conference "Promoting Effective Competition Policies for Shared 
Prosperity and Inclusive Growth" and Prize Presentation Ceremony, Washington 
DC, USA

23 June 2015

STEPPING UP, GOING FURTHER

ADVANCING KNOWLEDGE

Given the dynamic business operating environment and the increasingly complex competition landscape, CCS continues 
to stay ahead by equipping our officers with the skills and resources essential to advance their domain knowledge 
and careers. Some of the key study trips and training programmes attended by our officers in FY 2015/16 include: 
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CCS WORK PLAN SEMINAR 2016

On 22 January 2016, CCS held its 
annual Work Plan Seminar at Temasek 
Club. The serenity of the surroundings 
facilitated the conversations which 
set the theme for CCS’s work plan 
in the new financial year.

Besides taking into consideration 
the overall economic outlook, CCS 
used the SWOT analysis to identify 
potential impact and implications 
of key trends af fecting the 
operating landscape. In particular, 
the SWOT analysis enables CCS 
to spot emerging trends and 
growth opportunities, constraints 
and threats, both internally  
and externally. 

CCS’s priorities for 2016 and 
2017 are set against its operating 
environment and the resulting 
opportunities and challenges CCS 
will be facing. They are broadly 
clustered along these themes:

Enforcement
Robust and credible enforcement 
will always remain a cornerstone 
of CCS’s work. CCS will continue to 
enforce against cartels that harm 
competition and to aid this, CCS will 
conduct bid-rigging workshops for 
government agencies to help them 
identify possible cartels relating 
to government procurement. 
Enforcement efforts will also be 
strengthened through effective use of 
commitments and remedies, as well 
as through enhancement of CCS’s 
case detection frameworks to better 
detect anti-competition conduct (for 
example, potentially anti-competitive 
and un-notified mergers). 

E-commerce
Globally, digitisation is changing 
competition dynamics and creating 
new market opportunities. CCS, 
together with other relevant 
government agencies, can work 
to help our Small and Medium 
Enterprises (“SMEs”) leverage 
technology innovations to tap on new 
growth areas and to expand their 
regional or global reach, especially 
in e-commerce. 

International
Outside Singapore, CCS will 
focus on fostering closer working 
ties with our key counterparts 
overseas to further strengthen 
Competition Policy and Law (“CPL”) 
development and cooperation in 
the region. Furthermore, there will 
be a continual effort to deepen 
engagement with our counterparts 
in ASEAN to ensure an effective 
regional CPL that will reap the 
benefits of the ASEAN Economic 
Community (“AEC”) Blueprint 
2025 and support the formation 
of a competitive, innovative and 
dynamic ASEAN. 

Outreach & Stakeholder 
Engagement
Enforcement and outreach/ advocacy 
go hand-in-hand towards achieving 
effective competition. CCS will 
continue to develop and implement 
various engagement platforms with 
the government, public, businesses 
and other stakeholder groups to 
garner support for its work. This will 
involve identifying new opportunities 
and models for various stakeholder 
engagement programmes and 
platforms, and finding ways to build 
relationships with key stakeholders. 

Market Entry/ Expansion
CCS will ensure that markets, both 
domestic and international, remain 
open to entry, to allow for continuous 
innovation and new business models. 
CCS can achieve this though various 
tools such as enforcement or market 
studies to identify bottlenecks. 

Competitive Pricing
CCS will look into how our 
interventions can help to achieve 
more competitive pricing to help 
rein in costs for businesses and 
consumers. One way is to help 
consumers exercise more informed 
choices by improving availability of 
price information as well as reducing 
transaction costs (for example, 
switching cost) for consumers. 

$

6

2

3

41

5

75
CCS ANNUAL REPORT 2015-2016

REACHING ABOVE THE HORIZON



Financial 
Statements





STATEMENT BY COMPETITION COMMISSION 
OF SINGAPORE

IN OUR OPINION,

A the accompanying financial statements of the Competition Commission of Singapore (the “Commission”), set out 
on pages 81 to 96 are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Competition Act, Chapter 50B 
(the “Act”) and Singapore Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”) so as to give a true and fair 
view of the financial position of the Commission as at 31 March 2016, and the financial performance, changes in 
equity and cash flows for the financial year ended on that date;

B the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the Commission 
during the financial year are in accordance with the provisions of the Act; and

C proper accounting and other records have been kept, including records of all assets of the Commission whether 
purchased, donated or otherwise.

On behalf of the Commission

SINGAPORE 
15 JUNE 2016

TOH HAN LI
Chief Executive

AUBECK KAM
Chairman
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INDEPENDENT AUDITORS’ REPORT 
TO THE COMMISSION MEMBERS 
OF COMPETITION COMMISSION OF 
SINGAPORE
REPORT ON THE FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

We have audited the accompanying financial statements of the Competition Commission of Singapore (the “Commission”) 
which comprise the statement of financial position of the Commission as at 31 March 2016, the statement of profit or 
loss and other comprehensive income, statement of changes in equity and statement of cash flows for the year then 
ended, and a summary of significant accounting policies and other explanatory information, as set out on pages 81 to 96.

Management’s Responsibility for the Financial Statements
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair presentation of these financial statements in accordance 
with the provisions of the Competition Act, Chapter 50B (the “Act”) and Singapore Statutory Board Financial Reporting 
Standards (“SB-FRS”), and for such internal control as management determines is necessary to enable the preparation 
of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on these financial statements based on our audit. We conducted our audit in 
accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. Those standards require that we comply with ethical requirements 
and plan and perform the audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements are free from 
material misstatement.

An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial 
statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor’s judgement, including the assessment of the risks of 
material misstatement of the financial statements, whether due to fraud or error. In making those risk assessments, 
the auditor considers internal control relevant to the entity’s preparation and fair presentation of financial statements 
in order to design audit procedures that are appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing 
an opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control.

An audit also includes evaluating the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting 
estimates made by management, as well as evaluating the overall presentation of the financial statements.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our audit opinion.

Opinion
In our opinion, the financial statements are properly drawn up in accordance with the provisions of the Act and SB-
FRS so as to present fairly, in all material respects, the financial position of the Commission as at 31 March 2016 
and the financial performance, changes in equity and cash flows of the Commission for the year ended on that date.

REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

Management’s Responsibility for Compliance with Legal and Regulatory Requirements
Management is responsible for ensuring that the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition 
and disposal of assets, are in accordance with the provisions of the Act. This responsibility includes implementing 
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accounting and internal controls as management determines are necessary to enable compliance with the 
provisions of the Act.

Auditors’ Responsibility
Our responsibility is to express an opinion on management’s compliance based on our audit of the financial 
statements. We conducted our audit in accordance with Singapore Standards on Auditing. We planned and 
performed the compliance audit to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the receipts, expenditure, 
investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets, are in accordance with the provisions of the Act.

Our compliance audit includes obtaining an understanding of the internal control relevant to the receipts, 
expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets; and assessing the risks of material 
misstatement of the financial statements from non-compliance, if any, but not for the purpose of expressing an 
opinion on the effectiveness of the entity’s internal control. Because of the inherent limitations in any accounting 
and internal control system, non-compliances may nevertheless occur and not be detected. 

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion on management’s compliance.

Opinion
In our opinion:

a) the receipts, expenditure, investment of moneys and the acquisition and disposal of assets by the Commission 
during the year are, in all material respects, in accordance with the provisions of the Act; and

b) proper accounting and other records have been kept, including records of all assets of the Commission whether 
purchased, donated or otherwise.

SINGAPORE 
15 JUNE 2016

PUBLIC ACCOUNTANTS AND
CHARTERED ACCOUNTANTS
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NOTE 2016 2015

$ $

ASSETS

Current assets

Cash and cash equivalents 6 19,701,659 19,603,508

Other receivables 7 210,586 139,014

Prepayments 428,886 90,213

Total current assets 20,341,131 19,832,735

Non-current assets

Plant and equipment 8 1,181,278 1,669,457

Intangible assets 9 593,285 721,410

Total non-current assets 1,774,563 2,390,867

Total assets 22,115,694 22,223,602

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Current liabilities

Trade and other payables 10 1,793,129 1,354,376

Provision for reinstatement costs 287,301 -

Provision for contribution to consolidated fund 11 - -

Total current liabilities 2,080,430 1,354,376

Non-current liabilities

Deferred capital grants 12 1,024,401 1,227,907

Provision for reinstatement costs - 287,301

Total non-current liabilities 1,024,401  1,515,208

Equity

Share capital 13 2,097,892 2,097,892

Accumulated surplus 16,912,971 17,256,126

Total equity 19,010,863 19,354,018

Total liabilities and equity 22,115,694 22,223,602

See accompanying notes to financial statements.

STATEMENT OF FINANCIAL POSITION
31 MARCH 2016
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See accompanying notes to financial statements.

STATEMENT OF PROFIT OR LOSS AND 
OTHER COMPREHENSIVE INCOME

STATEMENT OF CHANGES IN EQUITY

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016

YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016

SHARE 
CAPITAL

ACCUMULATED 
SURPLUS 

TOTAL

$ $ $

Balance as at 1 April 2014 2,097,892 17,586,215 19,684,107

Net deficit for the year, representing total comprehensive loss for 
the year - (330,089) (330,089)

Balance as at 31 March 2015 2,097,892 17,256,126 19,354,018

Net deficit for the year, representing total comprehensive loss for 
the year - (343,155) (343,155)

Balance as at 31 March 2016 2,097,892 16,912,971 19,010,863

NOTE 2016 2015

$ $

Revenue 14 464,508 729,819

Interest income 222,673 184,090

Application fee income 170,000 535,000

Other operating income 71,835 10,729

Expenditure (16,342,660) (15,723,629)

Depreciation of plant and equipment 8 (577,471) (600,541)

Amortisation of intangible assets 9 (133,903) (95,393)

Salaries, wages and staff benefits 15 (10,769,972) (9,475,351)

Staff training and development costs (489,156) (492,763)

Information technology expenses (1,313,264) (1,331,684)

Operating lease expenses 15 (1,324,556) (1,316,420)

Other operating expenses (1,734,338) (2,411,477)

Deficit before government grants (15,878,152) (14,993,810)

Government grants 15,534,997 14,663,721

Operating grants 16 15,227,443 14,395,489

Deferred capital grant amortised 12 307,554 268,232

Deficit before contribution to consolidated fund 15 (343,155) (330,089)

Contribution to consolidated fund 11 - -

Net deficit, representing total comprehensive loss for the year (343,155) (330,089)
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See accompanying notes to financial statements.

STATEMENT OF CASH FLOWS
YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2016

2016 2015

$ $

Operating activities

Deficit for the year (343,155) (330,089)

Adjustments for:

Depreciation of plant and equipment (Note 8) 577,471 600,541

Amortisation of intangible assets (Note 9) 133,903 95,393

Write off of plant and equipment 8,978 -

Government grants (Note 16) (15,227,443) (14,395,489)

Deferred capital grant amortised (Note 12) (307,554) (268,232)

Interest income (Note 14) (222,673) (184,090)

Operating cash flows before working capital changes (15,380,473) (14,481,966)

Changes in working capital:

Other receivables (10,087) (29,484)

Prepayments (338,673) 19,019

Trade and other payables 402,143 (422,137)

Cash used in operations (15,327,090) (14,914,568)

Contribution to consolidated fund - -

Net cash flows used in operating activities (15,327,090) (14,914,568)

Investing activities

Purchase of plant and equipment (Note 8) (61,660) (3,082)

Acquisition of intangible assets (Note 9) (5,778) (267,000)

Interest received 161,188 120,779

Net cash flows from (used in) investing activities 93,750 (149,303)

Government grants received, representing 
cash flows from financing activity 15,331,491 14,698,400

Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 98,151 (365,471)

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of the financial year 19,603,508 19,968,979

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the financial year 19,701,659 19,603,508
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A BASIS OF ACCOUNTING - The financial statements are prepared in accordance with the historical cost basis, 
except as disclosed in the accounting polices below, and are drawn up in accordance with the provisions of 
the Act and the Singapore Statutory Board Financial Reporting Standards (“SB-FRS”), including INT SB-FRS 
and Guidance Notes.

Historical cost is generally based on the fair value of the consideration given in exchange for goods and services.

Fair value is the price that would be received to sell an asset or paid to transfer a liability in an orderly transaction 
between market participants at the measurement date, regardless of whether that price is directly observable or 
estimated using another valuation technique. In estimating the fair value of an asset or a liability, the Commission 
takes into account the characteristics of the asset or liability which market participants would take into account 
when pricing the asset or liability at the measurement date. Fair value for measurement and/or disclosure purposes 
in this set of financial statements is determined on such a basis.

B ADOPTION OF NEW AND REVISED STANDARDS - On 1 April 2015, the Commission adopted all the new/
revised SB-FRSs, INT SB-FRS and SB-FRS Guidance Notes that are effective from that date and are relevant 
to its operations. The adoption of these new/revised SB-FRSs, INT SB-FRS and SB-FRS Guidance Notes do not 
result in changes to the Commission’s accounting policies and has no material effect on the amounts reported 
for the current or prior years.

Management has considered and is of the view that the adoption of the SB-FRSs, INT SB-FRSs and Amendments 
to SB-FRSs that were issued as at the date of authorisation of these financial statements but not effective until 
future periods will have no material impact on the financial statements in the period of their initial adoption.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 MARCH 2016

2

1

The Competition Commission of Singapore (the “Commission”) was established as a statutory board in Singapore under the 
provisions of the Competition Act, Chapter 50B (the “Act”). The principal place of business and registered office is located 
at 45 Maxwell Road, #09-01, The URA Centre, Singapore 069118. The financial statements are expressed in Singapore 
dollars, which is the functional currency of the Commission and the presentation currency for the financial statements.

The Commission’s functions and duties are principally to:

GENERAL

SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The financial statements of the Commission for the financial year ended 31 March 2016 were authorised for issue by 
members of the Board on 15 June 2016.

a) maintain and enhance efficient market conduct 
and promote overall productivity, innovation and 
competitiveness of markets in Singapore;

b) eliminate or control practices having adverse effect 
on competition in Singapore;

c) promote and sustain competition in markets in Singapore;

d) promote a strong competitive culture and environment 
throughout the economy in Singapore;

e) advise the Government or other public authority on 
national needs and policies in respect of competition 
matters generally.
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 MARCH 2016

C FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS - Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised on the Commission’s statement 
of financial position when the Commission becomes a party to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

Effective interest method
The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortised cost of a financial instrument and of 
allocating interest income or expense over the relevant period. The effective interest rate is the rate that exactly 
discounts estimated future cash receipts or payments (including all fees on points paid or received that form 
an integral part of the effective interest rate, transaction costs and other premiums or discounts) through the 
expected life of the financial instrument, or where appropriate, a shorter period. Income and expense is recognised 
on an effective interest basis for debt instruments.

FINANCIAL ASSETS

Other receivables
Other receivables are measured at amortised cost using the effective interest method less impairment. Interest 
is recognised by applying the effective interest method, except for short-term receivables when the recognition 
of interest would be immaterial.

Impairment of financial assets
Financial assets are assessed for indicators of impairment at the end of each reporting period. Financial assets 
are impaired where there is objective evidence that, as a result of one or more events that occurred after the 
initial recognition of the financial asset, the estimated future cash flows of the investment have been impacted.

For financial assets carried at amortised cost, the amount of the impairment is the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows, discounted at the original effective 
interest rate.

The carrying amount of the financial asset is reduced by the impairment loss directly for all financial assets with 
the exception of receivables where the carrying amount is reduced through the use of an allowance account. 
When a receivable is uncollectible, it is written off against the allowance account. Subsequent recoveries of 
amounts previously written off are credited against the allowance account. Changes in the carrying amount of 
the allowance account are recognised in income or expenditure.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment loss was recognised, the previously recognised 
impairment loss is reversed through profit or loss to the extent the carrying amount of the financial assets 
at the date the impairment is reversed does not exceed what the amortised cost would have been had the 
impairment not been recognised.

Derecognition of financial assets
The Commission derecognises a financial asset only when the contractual rights to the cash flows from the 
asset expire, or it transfers the financial asset and substantially all the risks and rewards of ownership of the 
asset to another entity. If the Commission neither transfers nor retains substantially all the risks and rewards 

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
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of ownership and continues to control the transferred asset, the Commission recognises its retained interest in 
the asset and an associated liability for amounts it may have to pay. If the Commission retains substantially all 
the risks and rewards of ownership of a transferred financial asset, the Commission continues to recognise the 
financial asset and also recognises a collateralised borrowing for the proceeds received.

FINANCIAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY INSTRUMENTS

Classification as debt or equity
Financial liabilities and equity instruments issued by the Commission are classified according to the substance 
of the contractual arrangements entered into and the definitions of a financial liability and an equity instrument.

Equity instruments
An equity instrument is any contract that evidences a residual interest in the assets of the Commission after deducting 
all of its liabilities. Equity instruments are recorded at the proceeds received, net of significant direct issue costs.

Pursuant to the Finance Circular Minute (“FCM”) No. 26/2008 on Capital Management Framework (“CMF”), equity 
injection from the Government is recorded as share capital.

Other financial liabilities
Trade and other payables and amount are initially measured at fair value, net of transaction costs and are 
subsequently measured at amortised cost, using the effective interest method except for short-term balances 
when the recognition of interest would be immaterial.

Derecognition of financial liabilities
The Commission derecognises financial liabilities when, and only when, the Commission’s obligations are 
discharged, cancelled or they expire.

D LEASES - Leases are classified as finance leases whenever the terms of the lease transfer substantially all the 
risks and rewards of ownership to the lessee. All other leases are classified as operating leases.

The Commission as lessee
Rentals payable under operating leases are charged to income or expenditure on a straight-line basis over the 
term of the relevant lease unless another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which 
economic benefits from the leased asset are consumed. Contingent rentals arising under operating leases are 
recognised as an expense in the period in which they are incurred.

In the event that lease incentives are received to enter into operating leases, such incentives are recognised as 
a liability. The aggregate benefit of incentives is recognised as a reduction of rental expense on a straight-line 
basis, except where another systematic basis is more representative of the time pattern in which economic 
benefits from the leased asset are consumed.

E PLANT AND EQUIPMENT - These are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and any accumulated 
impairment losses.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 MARCH 2016

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)
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Depreciation is charged so as to write off the cost of plant and equipment, over their estimated useful lives, 
using the straight-line method, on the following bases:

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 MARCH 2016

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

Furniture, fixtures and equipment 
8 years

Office equipment 
5 to 10 years

Computer equipment 
3 to 5 years

The estimated useful lives, residual values and depreciation method of plant and equipment are reviewed at the 
end of each reporting period with the effect of any changes in estimates accounted for on a prospective basis. 
Development work-in-progress is not depreciated.

The gain or loss arising on disposal or retirement of an item of plant and equipment is determined as the difference 
between the sales proceeds and the carrying amounts of the asset and it is recognised in income or expenditure.

F INTANGIBLE ASSETS - The acquired computer software licenses are initially capitalised at cost which includes the 
purchase price (net of any discounts and rebates) and other directly attributable cost of preparing the asset for its 
intended use. Costs associated with maintaining the computer software are recognised as an expense when incurred.

Computer software is subsequently carried at cost less accumulated amortisation and accumulated impairment losses. 

Amortisation is calculated based on the cost of the asset, less its residual value. Amortisation is recognised 
in income and expenditure on a straight-line basis over the estimated useful lives of intangible assets from 
the date that they are available for use. The estimated useful lives for the current and comparative periods 
are from 3 to 5 years. Amortisation methods, useful lives and residual values are reviewed at the end of each 
reporting period and adjusted if appropriate.

G IMPAIRMENT OF NON-FINANCIAL ASSETS - At the end of each reporting period, the Commission reviews the 
carrying amounts of its assets to determine whether there is any indication that those assets have suffered an 
impairment loss. If any such indication exists, the recoverable amount of the asset is estimated in order to determine 
the extent of the impairment loss (if any). Where it is not possible to estimate the recoverable amount of an individual 
asset, the Commission estimates the recoverable amount of the cash-generating unit to which the asset belongs.

Recoverable amount is the higher of fair value less costs to sell and value in use. In assessing value in use, the 
estimated future cash flows are discounted to their present value using a pre-tax discount rate that reflects current 
market assessments of the time value of money and the risks specific to the asset.

If the recoverable amount of an asset (or cash-generating unit) is estimated to be less than its carrying amount, 
the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is reduced to its recoverable amount. An impairment loss 
is recognised immediately in income or expenditure.

Where an impairment loss subsequently reverses, the carrying amount of the asset (cash-generating unit) is 
increased to the revised estimate of its recoverable amount, but so that the increased carrying amount does not 
exceed the carrying amount that would have been determined had no impairment loss been recognised for the asset 
(cash-generating unit) in prior years. A reversal of an impairment loss is recognised immediately in profit or loss.
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H PROVISIONS - Provisions are recognised when the Commission has a present obligation (legal or constructive) as 
a result of a past event, it is probable that the Commission will be required to settle the obligation, and a reliable 
estimate can be made of the amount of the obligation.

The amount recognised as a provision is the best estimate of the consideration required to settle the present 
obligation at the end of the reporting period, taking into account the risks and uncertainties surrounding the 
obligation. Where a provision is measured using the cash flows estimated to settle the present obligation, its 
carrying amount is the present value of those cash flows.

When some or all of the economic benefits required to settle a provision are expected to be recovered from a 
third party, the receivable is recognised as an asset if it is virtually certain that reimbursement will be received 
and the amount of the receivable can be measured reliably.

I GOVERNMENT GRANTS - Government grants are recognised when there is a reasonable assurance that the 
Commission will comply with the conditions attached to them, and that the grants will be received.

Government grants for the purchase of depreciable assets are taken to the Deferred Capital Grants account. 
Deferred capital grants are recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income over 
the periods necessary to match the depreciation of the assets financed with the related grants. On disposal of the 
assets, the balance of the related grants is recognised in the statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive 
income to match the net book value of assets disposed.

Other government grants are recognised as income over the periods necessary to match the expenditure for 
which they are intended to compensate, on a systematic basis.

J REVENUE RECOGNITION - Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable.

Application fees
Application fees income is recognised when the 
service is provided.

Interest income
Interest income is accrued on a time-proportion 
basis, by reference to the principal outstanding and 
at the effective interest rate applicable.

K FINANCIAL PENALTIES - Financial penalties are imposed on undertakings found to have infringed the prohibitions 
under the Competition Act, Chapter 50B. The financial penalties collected are transferred to the Consolidated Fund 
upon receipt and are not included in the financial statements of the Commission.

L RETIREMENT BENEFIT COSTS - Payments to defined contribution retirement benefit plans are charged as an 
expense as they fall due. Payments made to state-managed retirement benefit schemes, such as the Singapore 
Central Provident Fund, are dealt with as payments to defined contribution plans where the Commission’s obligations 
under the plans are equivalent to those arising in a defined contribution retirement benefit plan.

M EMPLOYEE LEAVE ENTITLEMENT - Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognised when they accrue 
to employees. A provision is made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by 
employees up to the end of the reporting period.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

31 MARCH 2016
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NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 MARCH 2016

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (CONT’D)

N CONTRIBUTION TO CONSOLIDATED FUND - Under Section 13(1)(e) and the First Schedule of the Singapore 
Income Tax Act, Chapter 134, the income of the Commission is exempted from income tax.

In lieu of income tax, the Commission is required to make contribution to the Government Consolidated Fund 
in accordance with the Statutory Corporations (Contributions to Consolidated Fund) Act, Chapter 319A. The 
provision is based on the guidelines specified by the Ministry of Finance. It is computed based on the net surplus 
of the Commission for each of the financial year at the prevailing corporate tax rate for the Year of Assessment. 
Contribution to consolidated fund is provided for on an accrual basis.

O CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS - Cash and cash equivalents comprise cash balances, bank deposits and 
deposits placed with the Accountant-General’s Department.

In the application of the Commission’s accounting policies, which are described in Note 2, management is required to 
make judgements, estimates and assumptions about the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities that are not readily 
apparent from other sources. The estimates and associated assumptions are based on historical experience and other 
factors that are considered to be relevant. Actual results may differ from these estimates.

The estimates and underlying assumptions are reviewed on an ongoing basis. Revisions to accounting estimates are 
recognised in the period in which the estimate is revised if the revision affects only that period, or in the period of the 
revision and future periods if the revision affects both current and future periods.

Management is of the opinion that there are no critical judgements or significant estimates that would have a significant 
effect on the amounts recognised in the financial statements.

3 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING JUDGEMENTS AND KEY SOURCES OF ESTIMATION UNCERTAINTY

2016 2015

$ $

Financial assets

Loans and receivables:

Cash and cash equivalents 19,701,659 19,603,508

Other receivables 210,586 139,014

Total 19,912,245 19,742,522

Financial liabilities

At amortised cost:

Trade payables 212,191 -

Accrued staff costs 834,000 716,000

Accrued operating expenses 641,938 583,376

Total 1,688,129 1,299,376

4 FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT

A CATEGORIES OF FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS 
The following table sets out the financial instruments as at 
the end of the reporting period:
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31 MARCH 2016

B FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT POLICIES AND OBJECTIVES
C The Commission is exposed to financial risk arising from its operations which include interest rate risk, credit 

risk and liquidity risk. The Commission has policies and guidelines, which set out its general risk management 
framework as discussed below.

D There has been no change to the Commission’s exposure to these financial risks or the manner in which it manages 
and measures the risk.

i. Interest rate risk management
Surplus funds in the Commission are placed with 
Accountant-General’s Department as disclosed 
in Note 6. Interest rate sensitivity analysis has not 
been presented as management do not expect any 
reasonable possible changes in interest rates to have 
a significant impact on the Commission’s operations 
and cash flows.

ii. Credit risk management
Credit risk, or the risk of counterparties defaulting is 
controlled by the application of regular monitoring 
procedures. The extent of the Commission’s credit 
exposure is represented by the aggregate balance of 
cash and bank balances and receivables.

iii. Liquidity risk management
Liquidity risk arises in the general funding of the 
Commission’s operating activities. It includes the 
risks of not being able to fund operating activities 
in a timely manner. To manage liquidity risk, 
the Commission places surplus funds with the 
Accountant-General’s Department which are readily 
available where required.

iv. Fair values of financial assets and 
financial liabilities

The carrying amounts of financial assets and 
financial liabilities as reported in the financial 
statements approximate their respective fair values 
due to the relatively short-term maturity of these 
financial instruments.

v. Capital risk management policies 
and objectives

The Commission manages its capital base in 
consideration of current economic conditions and 
its plan for the year in concern. The request for grants 
from the Ministry of Trade and Industry (“MTI”) is made 
though the annual budget exercise. The Commission 
is not exposed to any external capital requirements. 
However, it is required to comply with FCM No. 
26/2008 under the Capital Management Framework 
for Statutory Boards.

The capital structure of the Commission consists 
of accumulated surplus and share capital. The 
Commission’s capital structure remains unchanged 
since 31 March 2015.

FINANCIAL INSTRUMENTS, FINANCIAL RISKS AND CAPITAL RISKS MANAGEMENT (CONT’D)
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2016 2015
$ $

Ministries and Statutory Boards

Operating grants received from government 15,171,000 14,696,100

Office premises lease 1,245,557 1,245,557

Other grants received 160,491 2,300

Computer and IT related expenses 74,338 141,284

Transfer of plant and equipment from other government agency - 21,827

2016 2015
$ $

Cash with Accountant-General’s Department (“AGD”) 17,566,884 18,044,689

Deposits with AGD 2,134,775 1,558,819

19,701,659 19,603,508

2016 2015
$ $

Short-term benefits and salaries paid to directors and above 2,882,776 2,383,318

Allowances paid to non-executive Commission Members 90,000 72,359

Professional fees paid to a non-executive Commission Member 90,400 -

3,063,176 2,455,677

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

5 RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Some of the Commission’s transactions and arrangements are with related parties and the effect of these on the 
basis determined between the parties is reflected in these financial statements. The balances are unsecured, 
interest-free and repayable on demand unless otherwise stated.

Nature and amount of individually significant transactions
The Commission leases an office premise from Urban Redevelopment Authority (“URA”). In addition, the Commission 
obtains information technology services from Infocomm Development Authority of Singapore (“IDA”).

Compensation of key management personnel
The remuneration of key management personnel during the financial year were as follows:

Cash and cash equivalents are denominated in Singapore dollars. The weighted average effective interest rates range 
between 1.06% to 1.46% (2015 : 0.74% to 0.99%) per annum.

With effect from April 2010, cash is placed with AGD under the Centralised Liquidity Management (“CLM”) scheme. This 
scheme involves placing funds directly with the AGD for cost efficiency and better credit risk management.

6 CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

31 MARCH 2016
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2016 2015
$ $

Interest receivable 170,959 109,474

Other receivables 39,627 29,540

210,586 139,014

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 MARCH 2016

8 PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

FURNITURE, 
FIXTURES AND 

EQUIPMENT

OFFICE 
EQUIPMENT

COMPUTER 
EQUIPMENT

TOTAL

$ $ $ $

Cost:

At 1 April 2014 1,354,655 889,270 1,710,420 3,954,345

Additions 2,534 - 22,375 24,909

Disposals - - (11,235) (11,235)

At 31 March 2015 1,357,189 889,270 1,721,560 3,968,019

Additions 5,778 13,696 78,796 98,270

Write off (2,140) (17,056) (17,994) (37,190)

At 31 March 2016 1,360,827 885,910 1,782,362 4,029,099

Accumulated depreciation:

At 1 April 2014 574,036 337,438 797,782 1,709,256

Depreciation 164,256 94,684 341,601 600,541

Disposals - - (11,235) (11,235)

At 31 March 2015  738,292 432,122 1,128,148 2,298,562

Depreciation 164,539 91,057 321,875 577,471

Write off (624) (9,866) (17,722) (28,212)

At 31 March 2016  902,207 513,313 1,432,301 2,847,821

Carrying amount:

At 31 March 2016 458,620 372,597 350,061 1,181,278

At 31 March 2015 618,897 457,148 593,412 1,669,457

7 OTHER RECEIVABLES

Included in additions during the year are plant and equipment transferred from Infocomm Development Authority 
of Singapore, amounting to $Nil (2015 : $21,827).

During the financial year, the Commission acquired plant and equipment with aggregate cost of $98,270 (2015 
: $3,082).  Cash payment of $61,660 (2015 : $3,082) were made to purchase plant and equipment and $36,610 
(2015 : $Nil) remains unpaid at the end of reporting period.
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2016 2015
$ $

Trade payables 212,191

Accrued staff costs 834,000 716,000

Accrued operating expenses 641,938 583,376

Deferred income 105,000 55,000

1,793,129 1,354,376

ACQUIRED  
COMPUTER 
SOFTWARE

DEVELOPMENT 
WORK-IN-

PROGRESS
TOTAL

$ $ $

Cost:

At 1 April 2014 450,171 251,750 701,921

Additions 299,829 - 299,829

At 31 March 2015 750,000 251,750 1,001,750

Additions 5,778 - 5,778

At 31 March 2016 755,778 251,750 1,007,528

Amortisation:

At 1 April 2014 184,947 - 184,947

Amortisation 95,393 - 95,393

At 31 March 2015 280,340 - 280,340

Amortisation 133,903 - 133,903

At 31 March 2016 414,243 - 414,243

Carrying amount:

At 31 March 2016 341,535 251,750 593,285

At 31 March 2015 469,660 251,750 721,410

During the financial year, the Commission acquired computer software with aggregate cost of $5,778 (2015 
: $299,829). Cash payment of $ 5,778 (2015 : $267,000) were made to purchase computer software and $Nil 
(2015 : $32,829) remains unpaid at the end of the reporting period.

Development work-in-progress relates to Knowledge Management System.

The average credit period is 30 days (2015 : 30 days). No interest is charged on outstanding balances.

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

9

10

INTANGIBLE ASSETS

TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

31 MARCH 2016
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11

12

14

13

CONTRIBUTION TO CONSOLIDATED FUND

DEFERRED CAPITAL GRANTS 

REVENUE

SHARE CAPITAL

The Commission is required to make contributions to the Consolidated Fund in accordance with the Statutory 
Corporations (Contributions to Consolidated Fund) Act (Cap 319A, 2004 Revised Edition) and in accordance with 
the Finance Circular Minute No. 5/2005 with effect from 2004/2005. The amount to be contributed is based on 
17% (2015 : 17%) of the net surplus of the Commission, after netting off the prior year’s accounting deficit.

The shares have been fully paid for and are held by the Minister for Finance, a body corporate incorporated by 
the Minister for Finance (Incorporation) Act (Chapter 183). The holder of these shares, which has no par value, 
is entitled to receive dividends from the Commission. There is no dividend payable in current year.

2016 2015

$ $

At the beginning of financial year 1,227,907 1,171,401

Transfer from operating grants (Note 16) 104,048 302,911

Transfer from other government agency - 21,827

Transfer to statement of profit or loss and other comprehensive income (307,554) (268,232)

At the end of financial year 1,024,401 1,227,907

2016 2015

$ $

Interest income on cash and bank balances placed with  
the Accountant-General’s Department 222,673 184,090

Application fee income 170,000 535,000

Other operating income 71,835 10,729

464,508 729,819

2016 2015 2016 2015

Number of 
shares

Number of 
shares $ $

Issued and fully paid up:
  Balance at beginning and end of  

  financial year 2,097,892 2,097,892 2,097,892 2,097,892
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15

17

18

16

DEFICIT BEFORE CONTRIBUTION TO CONSOLIDATED FUND

FINANCIAL PENALTIES

CAPITAL COMMITMENTS

OPERATING GRANTS

Deficit for the year has been arrived at after charging:

All financial penalties collected by the Commission are paid into the Consolidated Fund in accordance with Section 
13(2) of the Competition Act, Chapter 50B. The following financial penalties collected during the financial year are not 
included in the financial statements of the Commission.

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense represent rentals payable by the 
Commission for its office premises of $1,245,557 (2015 : $1,245,557); office equipment of $15,796 (2015 : $26,322) and 
lease of laptops under operating leases of $63,203 (2015 : $44,541).

Capital commitments
Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the reporting period but not recognised in the financial statements 
is as follows:

Operating lease commitments

2016 2015
$ $

Operating lease expenses 1,324,556 1,316,420

Salaries, wages and other allowances 9,777,760 8,654,632

Contribution to defined contribution plans, included in salaries,  
wages and staff benefits 992,212 820,719

2016 2015

$ $

Financial penalties collected 4,885,848 9,028,520

2016 2015

$ $

Capital commitments in respect of computer systems 13,250 13,250

2016 2015

$ $

Minimum lease payments under operating leases recognised as an expense 1,324,556 1,316,420

2016 2015

$ $

Grants received from government during the year 15,171,000 14,696,100

Other grants received during the year 160,491 2,300

Transfer to deferred capital grants (Note 12) (104,048)     (302,911)

15,227,443 14,395,489

NOTES TO FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
31 MARCH 2016
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18 CAPITAL COMMITMENTS (CONT’D)

At the end of the reporting period, the Commission has outstanding commitments under non-cancellable 
operating leases, which fall due as follows:

Operating lease payments represent rentals payable by the Commission for its office premises and office 
equipment under operating leases. Leases are negotiated and rentals are fixed for an average of 1 to 5 years 
with renewal options included in the contracts.

2016 2015

$ $

Not later than one year 677,114 1,657,836

Later than one year but not later than five years 40,922 685,061

718,036 2,342,897
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